
- 1 - 

 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
CABINET 

 
WEDNESDAY 28TH APRIL 2010, AT 6.00 P.M. 

 
COMMITTEE ROOM, THE COUNCIL HOUSE, BURCOT LANE, BROMSGROVE 
 

AGENDA 
 
MEMBERS: Councillors R. Hollingworth (Chairman), G. N. Denaro (Vice-

Chairman), Dr. D. W. P. Booth JP, J. T. Duddy, Mrs. J. Dyer M.B.E., 
Mrs. M. A. Sherrey JP, R. D. Smith, M. J. A. Webb and 
P. J. Whittaker 
 
 

1. To receive apologies for absence  
 
2. Declarations of Interest  
 
3. To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 

7th April 2010 (Pages 1 - 6) 
 
4. Minutes of the meeting of the Overview Board held on 30th March 2010 

(Pages 7 - 10) 
 
 (a) To receive and note the minutes 

(b) To consider any recommendations contained within the minutes 
  
5. Minutes of the meeting of the Local Development Framework Working Group 

held on 15th April 2010 (to follow) (Pages 11 - 12) 
 
 (a) To receive and note the minutes 

(b) To consider any recommendations contained within the minutes 
 

  
6. Minutes of the meeting of the Performance Management Board held on 19th 

April 2010 (to follow) (Pages 13 - 14) 
 
 (a) To receive and note the minutes 

(b) To consider any recommendations contained within the minutes 
 

  



- 2 - 

7. Minutes of the meeting of the Bromsgrove Local Strategic Partnership held 
on 23rd March 2010 (Pages 15 - 22) 

 
 (a) To receive and note the minutes 

(b) To consider any recommendations contained within the minutes 
  
8. Minutes of the meeting of the Shared Services Board held on 20th April 2010 

(to follow) (Pages 23 - 24) 
 
 (a)  To receive and note the minutes 

(b) To consider any recommendations contained within the minutes 
  
9. To receive verbal updates from the Leader and/or other Cabinet Members on 

any recent meetings attended in an ex-officio capacity (Pages 25 - 26) 
 
10. Worcestershire Enhanced Two Tier - Appointment to Joint Committee and 

Delegation of Regulatory Services Functions (Pages 27 - 32) 
 
11. Changes to Governance Arrangements (Pages 33 - 40) 
 
12. Economic Development Strategy (Pages 41 - 58) 
 
13. Hot Food Takeaways - Supplementary Planning Document (Pages 59 - 64) 
 
14. Improvement Plan Exception Report (March 2010) (Pages 65 - 76) 
 
15. Performance Monitoring  Report (March 2010) (Pages 77 - 82) 
 

• Appendices For Agenda Item 15 - Performance Monitoring Report 
(March 2010) (Pages 83 - 98) 

 
16. To consider any other business, details of which have been notified to the 

Head of Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services prior to the 
commencement of the meeting and which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, considers to be of so urgent a nature that it cannot wait until 
the next meeting  

 
 K. DICKS 

Chief Executive  
The Council House 
Burcot Lane 
BROMSGROVE 
Worcestershire 
B60 1AA 
 
19th April 2010 
 



 

 
B R O M S G R O V E  D I S T R I C T  C O U N C I L 

 
MEETING OF THE CABINET 

 
WEDNESDAY, 7TH APRIL 2010, AT 6.00 P.M. 

 
 
 

PRESENT: Councillors G. N. Denaro (Vice-Chairman in the chair), 
Dr. D. W. P. Booth JP, J. T. Duddy, Mrs. J. Dyer M.B.E., 
Mrs. M. A. Sherrey JP, R. D. Smith, M. J. A. Webb and P. J. Whittaker 

   
 

 Officers: Mr. K. Dicks, Ms. J. Pickering, Mr. H. Bennett, Mrs. C. Felton, 
Mr. A. Coel and Ms. P. Ross 

 
 

175/09 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor R. Hollingworth. 
 

176/09 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
 

177/09 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 3rd March 2010 were 
submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes be approved as a correct record. 
 

178/09 OVERVIEW BOARD  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Overview Board held on 2nd March 2010 
were submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes be noted. 
 

179/09 JOINT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 
9th March 2010 were submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes be noted. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Cabinet 
7th April 2010 

 

180/09 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT BOARD  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Performance Management Board held on 
15th March 2010 were submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes be noted. 
 

181/09 AUDIT BOARD  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Audit Board held on 15th March 2010 were 
submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes be noted. 
 

182/09 SCRUTINY BOARD  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Scrutiny Board held on 23rd March 2010 
were submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes be noted. 
 

183/09 VERBAL UPDATES FROM THE LEADER AND/OR OTHER CABINET 
MEMBERS ON ANY RECENT MEETINGS ATTENDED IN AN EX-OFFICIO 
CAPACITY  
 
Councillor G. N. Denaro reported on the ‘Being Different Together’ event he 
had attended together with the Chief Executive, the Executive Director, 
Finance and Corporate Resources, the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships and the Head of Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services. 
 

184/09 FAIRTRADE TOWN  
 
The Cabinet considered a report on the arguments for and against 
Bromsgrove town seeking Fairtrade status.  The Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Board had received a public petition entitled ”Fairtrade Bromsgrove”, where it 
had been agreed that the Cabinet should receive a full report from the Director 
of Policy, Performance and Partnerships on the full cost implications of 
supporting Fairtrade Status for Bromsgrove town.  Following further 
discussion on the resourcing impact on officers and the area defined as 
Bromsgrove town, it was 
 
RECOMMENDED: 
(a) that the Council supports Fairtrade, and 
(b)  that, by supporting Fairtrade, the Council works with the Fairtrade 

Bromsgrove Steering Group on working with local businesses on 
stocking and serving Fairtrade products, works with the Fairtrade 
Bromsgrove Steering Group on working with local employers on using 
Fairtrade products, works with the Fairtrade Bromsgrove Steering 
Group on a PR and marketing campaign to promote awareness and 

Page 2



Cabinet 
7th April 2010 

 

understanding of Fairtrade and generally supports the Fairtrade 
Bromsgrove Steering Group. 

 
185/09 COUNTYWIDE HOME IMPROVEMENT AGENCY FOR WORCESTERSHIRE 

- PROGRESS ON DELIVERY  
 
The Cabinet considered a report that provided an update on the progress of 
recommissioning the Home Improvement Agency (HIA) Service and the 
development of the new Kick Start Equity Release Scheme Service.  The 
Strategic Housing Manager responded to questions from Members. 
 
RESOLVED:   
(a)  that the progress and arrangements being made for the recommissioning 

of a Worcestershire Home Improvement Agency and Kick Start Equity 
Release Scheme be noted; and 

(b) that the revised Housing Assistance Policy as set out at Appendix 1 of 
the report be approved, subject to the following amendments:  

 
 Criteria for the Award of Discretionary Home Repair Assistance Grants 
 
 First Bullet point for Eligible applicants to be altered to read: “Owner 
 Occupiers and tenants with full repairing lease responsibilities who have 
 a duty or power to carry out the works.” 
 
 Third Bullet point for Eligible Applicants to be altered to read: “Disabled 

persons who are in receipt of Attendance Allowance or Disability Living 
Allowance and who have household savings of less than £16,000.” 

 
186/09 COUNCIL PLAN 2010/2013 PART 2  

 
The Cabinet considered a report on the draft Council Plan 2010/2013 Part 2 
which included a high level action plan for the Council’s new six priorities.  
Particular attention was drawn to the new balanced scorecard for the Council 
and the strategic action plan 2010/2013.  The Director of Policy, Performance 
and Partnerships was tasked to incorporate amendments to the Strategic 
Action Plan, Lead Members as highlighted during the discussion. 
 
RECOMMENDED that, subject to the amendments as referred to in the 
preamble above, the Council Plan 2010/2013 Part 2 be approved. 
 

187/09 PRE-APPLICATION PLANNING ADVICE - INTRODUCTION OF CHARGES  
 
Consideration was given to a report setting out a proposal for the introduction 
of a range of charges for services associated with pre-planning advice given 
by the Planning Department.  The Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Regeneration responded to questions from Members and agreed to liaise with 
officers to clarify and, if necessary, ensure additional information in relation to 
Proposed development type ‘other***’ was included prior to submission of the 
report to the Council. 
 

Page 3



Cabinet 
7th April 2010 

 

RECOMMENDED: 
(a) that the Council adopts the principle of introducing a charge for these 

services and the scale of charges proposed, subject to the additional 
information as referred to in the preamble above, and that these are 
implemented from 21st April 2010; 

(b) that officers continue to work with colleagues from other authorities to 
produce an appropriate information leaflet; and 

(c) that the charging arrangements and relevant fees be reviewed in 12 
months’ time. 

 
188/09 ARTRIX - RESTRUCTURING OF OPERATING TRUST  

 
The Cabinet agreed that this item be deferred until the Cabinet meeting to be 
held on 28th April 2010. 
 

189/09 IMPROVEMENT PLAN EXCEPTION REPORT (FEBRUARY 2010)  
 
Consideration was given to the Improvement Plan Exception Report for 
February 2010 together with the corrective action being taken.   
 
RESOLVED:    
(a) that the revisions to the Improvement Plan Exception Report together 

with the corrective action being taken be approved;  
(b) that it be noted that for the 77 actions highlighted for February within 

the plan 66.2 percent were on target (green), 5.2 percent were one 
month behind (amber) and 5.2 percent were over one month behind 
(red).  In addition it was noted that 23.4 percent of actions had been 
reprogrammed or suspended with approval; and  

(c) that with reference to FP4: Managing Performance (including Value for 
 Money), the  Head of Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services be 
 requested to arrange an alternative training date and advise Members 
 of the  proposed date and time. 
  

190/09 PERFORMANCE MONITORING  REPORT (FEBRUARY 2010)  
 
The Cabinet considered a report on the Council’s performance as at 28th 
February 2010 (period 11).   
 
RESOLVED: 
(a) that it be noted that 63 percent of Performance Indicators were stable 
 or improving; 
(b) that it be noted that 60 percent of Performance Indicators that had a 
 target were meeting their target as at the month end and 80 percent 
 were projected to meet their target at the year end; 
(c) that the performance figures for February 2010 as set out in the report 
 be noted;   
(d) that the particular areas of improvement as set out in section 3.5 of the 
 report be noted; and  
(e) that the areas of concern as set out in section 3.6 of the report be 
 noted. 

Page 4



Cabinet 
7th April 2010 

 

 
191/09 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972  

 
RESOLVED that under Section 100 I of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of 
the following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of “Exempt Information” as defined in part I of schedule 12A to the 
Act, as amended, the relevant paragraph of that part being as set out below, 
and that it is in the public interest to do so. 
 

Minute No.  Paragraph  
192/09 3  

   
192/09 WRITE OFFS REPORT  - HOUSING BENEFIT  

 
The Cabinet considered a report on a request to write off a debt in relation to 
Housing Benefit. 
 
RESOLVED that the Housing Benefit Overpayment debt as set out in 
Appendix 1 of the report be written off as irrecoverable in accordance with the 
Council’s Write Off Policy. 
 
(NOTE: Under paragraph 17.7 of the Council’s Procedure Rules, Councillor J. 
T. Duddy requested that it be recorded that he had abstained from voting on 
this matter). 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at 7.03 p.m. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



 

B R O M S G R O V E  D I S T R I C T  C O U N C I L 
 

MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW BOARD 
 

TUESDAY, 30TH MARCH 2010 AT 6.00 P.M. 
 
 
 

PRESENT: Councillors S. R. Colella (Chairman), Mrs. M. Bunker (Vice-Chairman), 
Mrs. J. M. L. A. Griffiths, Mrs. C. J. Spencer and L. J. Turner 
 

 Observers:  Councillor Mrs. M. A. Sherrey JP 
 

 Officers: Mr. H. Bennett, Mr. M. Carr and Ms. A. Scarce 
 

 
 

59/09 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor D. L. Pardoe and the 
Board.  The Chairman requested that the Board’s good wishes for a speedy 
recovery be sent. 
 

60/09 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND WHIPPING ARRANGEMENTS  
 
Councillor Mrs. M. Bunker declared a personal interest in Minute No. 65/09 
(Overview and Scrutiny Proposal Form, Railway Station Development) in her 
role as County Councillor. 
 
Councillor Mrs. C. J. Spencer declared a personal interest in Minute No. 65/09 
(Overview and Scrutiny Proposal Form, Railway Station Development) in her 
role as Ward Member. 
 

61/09 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Overview Board held on 2nd March 2010 
were submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes be confirmed as a correct record. 
 

62/09 CABINET RESPONSE TO THE OLDER PEOPLE'S TASK GROUP  
 
The Chairman thanked Councillor Mrs. M. Sherrey, Portfolio Holder for 
Children and Young People, Older People and the Vulnerable for attending 
the meeting in order to present the Recommendations agreed by Cabinet on 
3rd March 2010, to the Overview Board.  The Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Young People, Older People and the Vulnerable thanked the Task Group for 
the hard work that had been involved in preparing the report which contained 
achievable recommendations.  The Board discussed the Cabinet Response in 
detail.  The Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People, Older People and 
the Vulnerable, together with the Director of Policy, Performance and 

Agenda Item 4

Page 7



Overview Board 
30th March 2010 

 

Partnership provided updates on several recommendations and the Board 
made the following comments: 
 

• Recommendation 1(a) UK Older People’s Day – The Member/officer 
working group would be set up in early April 2010 by the Director of 
Policy, Performance and Partnerships, in preparation for UK Older 
People’s Day which would be held in October 2010. 

• Recommendation 2 Free Swimming at the Dolphin Centre – the 
Scrutiny Officer was asked to check with the Head of Leisure and 
Cultural Services as to when work would commence on the funding bid. 

• Recommendation 3 Gym Facilities at the Dolphin Centre – the Scrutiny 
Officer was asked to contact the Head of Leisure and Cultural Services 
for confirmation of the implementation date. 

• Recommendation 4 Community Transport Services (BURT) & 
Recommendation 5 The Trunk – The Head of Community Services now 
had responsibility for these items. 

• Recommendation 6 Older People’s Strategy for Worcestershire – After 
discussion it was agreed that there would be some slippage on this 
item and the implementation date was moved to June 2010.  It was 
agreed that when the draft Strategy goes out to consultation, it would 
be brought before the Overview Board to provide the Council’s 
response. 

• Recommendation 7 Mapping Exercise – This would be picked up by the 
working group as detailed at Recommendation 1. 

• Recommendation 8 Older People’s A-Z Directory – Funding had been 
agreed for this project and the Directory would be launched at an Older 
People’s Day event in October 2010. 

• Recommendation 9(b) Information Management – This would be picked 
up when the new Head of Customer Service was appointed. 

• Recommendation 10 Older People’s Champions – Further research on 
funding of this item would be undertaken and then go live in October 
2011.  Director of Policy, Performance and Partnerships would be the 
lead officer. 

• Recommendations 11 and 12 Older People’s Housing Strategy for 
Worcestershire and Housing – It was agreed the Scrutiny Officer would 
check the implementation dates with the Lead Officer, the Strategic 
Housing Manager. 

• Recommendation 13 Lifeline – This item was discussed in detail and 
Members were advised that information on the Performance Indicator 
for this was provided to the Performance Management Board on a 
regular basis. 

• Recommendation 14 Benefit Service – The Mosaic would be used to 
target specific segments of the population and information on the 
Benefits Service would also be included in the Older People’s A-Z 
Directory. 

• Recommendation 15 Employment – The implementation date was 
confirmed as March 2012. 

• Recommendation 16 Adult Learning Opportunities – Information would 
be provided in the Older People’s A-Z Directory. 

Page 8



Overview Board 
30th March 2010 

 

• Recommendation 17 Funding Opportunities – Members recognised the 
difficulties facing the Council in the current financial climate. 

• Recommendation 18 Worcestershire County Council Highways 
Department – Officers to establish if Councillor Mrs. R. L. Dent is still an 
active Member on the Highways Partnership Forum and if so, obtain 
background information from her. 

• Recommendation 19 Future – Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships would be the lead officer on this item. 

• Recommendation 20 Older People’s Strategy for Worcestershire, 
Phase 2 – it was confirmed that there was no Levels 3, 4, and 5 in the 
new draft Strategy. 

 
63/09 VERBAL UPDATE ON PROGRESS OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT IN 

LOCAL DEMOCRACY TASK GROUP (TASK GROUP CHAIRMAN: 
COUNCILLOR L. J. TURNER)  
 
The Chairman of the Community Involvement in Local Democracy Task Group 
advised Members that the Task Group had held a further 3 meetings and the 
following witnesses had been questioned: 
 

• Parish Council Chairman 
• Representatives from the Artrix Centre 
• Portfolio Holder for Resources 
• A representative from County Council Extended Services 
• County Council Citizens Advisor 
• Portfolio Holder for One Community 

 
It was anticipated that the draft report would be presented to the Task Group 
at a final meeting in mid April and then brought before the Overview Board at 
the meeting to be held on 27th April 2010. 
 
The Board discussed the areas covered by the Task Group and possible 
outcomes from it.  Members thanked the Chairman for the comprehensive 
update. 
 

64/09 FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  
 
The Board considered the Forward Plan of Key Decisions 1st April to 31st July 
2010 and noted that item 23, Benefit Take-Up Strategy would link in to 
Recommendation 14 of the Older People’s Task Group.  Members also 
discussed item 8, Write-Off - Housing Benefit. 
 

65/09 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PROPOSAL - RAILWAY STATION 
DEVELOPMENT (COUNCILLOR MRS. J. M. L. A. GRIFFITHS)  
 
The Board considered the report relating to an Overview and Scrutiny 
Proposal on the Railway Station Development, completed by Councillor Mrs. 
J. M. L. A. Griffiths.  Members noted that a major concern in respect of the 
development would be neighbourhood car parking.   
 

Page 9



Overview Board 
30th March 2010 

 

The Director for Policy, Performance and Partnerships advised that the 
Executive Director for Planning and Regeneration, Housing Services had 
recently attended a meeting which had provided an update on the current 
position of the development.  Members discussed this in detail and were 
concerned that a further delay was likely due to a funding shortfall.   Members 
agreed that this matter was of high priority and after discussion it was  
 
RESOLVED that Officers arrange for a relevant representative from the 
County Council and Network Rail to be invited to attend the next Overview 
Board meeting to be held on 27th April 2010, together with relevant County 
Councillors and the Executive Director for Planning and Regeneration, 
Housing Services in order for the Board to establish the current position and 
before deciding whether or not further investigation is required. 
 

66/09 WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Board considered the Work Programme and noted that due to staff 
changes, Members were advised that the implementation of the Civil Parking 
Enforcement proposals item on the work programme may be delayed pending 
the outcome of negotiations between the Council and the County Council. 
 
RESOLVED that the Overview Board Work Programme be noted. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 7.50 p.m. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 10



THE ENCLOSURES FOR THIS ITEM WILL FOLLOW ON A 
SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA 

Agenda Item 5

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



THE ENCLOSURES FOR THIS ITEM WILL FOLLOW ON A 
SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA 

Agenda Item 6

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Bromsgrove Partnership Board  
 
23 March 2010 at 2pm 
 
MINUTES 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   
Present:   
   
Cllr Roger Hollingworth  Bromsgrove District Council (Chair) 
Liz Altay NHS Worcestershire 
Hugh Bennett Bromsgrove District Council 
Mike Brown Bromsgrove District Housing Trust (BDHT) 
Maggie Bryan Worcestershire County Council (WCC) 
Angela Burnet West Mercia Police 
Eddie  Clarke Worcestershire County Council (WCC) 
John Cypher Parish Councils (CALC) 
Mike Dunphy Bromsgrove District Council 
Marie  Green Bromsgrove District Housing Trust (BDHT) 
Judy Hallam NEW College 
Della McCarthy Bromsgrove District Council 
Cllr Ed Moore Worcestershire County Council (WCC) 
David Shaw West Mercia Police 
Ann  Sowton Bromsgrove and Redditch Network (BARN) 
   

 
Item 1 APOLOGIES  

 
John Morgan Small and Medium Businesses (Vice-Chair) 
Kevin Dicks Bromsgrove District Council 
John Staniland Bromsgrove District Council 
   

ACTION 
Item 2 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 
RH welcomed everyone in attendance and each person 
introduced themselves in turn.   
 

 
 
 

Item 3 MINUTES OF MEETING 10 DECEMBER 2009 AND 
MATTERS ARISING 
 
The minutes were approved as a true record and there were 
no matters arising. 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 15



 2 

 
Item 4 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY FORUM MINUTES 

 
The minutes and the Highlight Report of the Equality and 
Diversity Forum held on 10 December 2010 were 
considered and noted. 
 
It was pointed out that the reason why the minutes were 
lengthy was due to a historical issue.  Particular attention 
was given to the sections relating to ‘What could the Council 
have done better’ and ‘What the Council has done well’ 
within the Highlight Report.  It was commented that by 
ensuring invitees, including the Police, were informed in 
advance in a timely manner of questions likely to be raised, 
it would mean Forum members were more likely to receive 
full answers at the meeting from appropriate 
representatives.  HB agreed to pass on the Board’s 
comments.  It was also noted that the District Council’s 
Equalities Officer, Fiona Scott, had done an excellent job 
over the past few years. 
 
The link to the Equality and Diversity Forum was raised and 
discussed again.  It was noted that AS was a member of the 
Forum and other LSP members were encouraged to attend 
a Forum meeting.  It was pointed out that the Bromsgrove 
Partnership had engaged with Forum members for particular 
projects, for example, the Community Transport Sub-Group 
(BURT – Bromsgrove Urban and Rural Transport) and the 
Town Centre Steering Group relating to the new toilet block.  
After a brief discussion, it was agreed that the Forum Chair 
could be invited to attend a Board meeting periodically. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HB / DM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HB / DM 
 

Item 5 THEME GROUP AWAY DAY 
 
Consideration was given to the report relating to the Theme 
Group Away Day held on 12 February 2010.  It was 
commented that David Winchurch (Local Improvement 
Advisor from ‘Learning 2 Deliver’) who was invited to assist 
members on the day, was impressed with how far 
Bromsgrove Partnership had progressed compared to other 
LSPs he had worked with and he also complimented the 
Chair of the Board. 
 
LSP Structure 
The summary of points made on the Away Day listed (a) to 
(n) under paragraph 3.4 of the report were considered one 
at a time.  There was some discussion around a number of 
points, particularly (b) which stated that all Theme Groups 
met on a bi-monthly basis.  It was questioned whether some 
Theme Groups should remain meeting on a quarterly basis. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 3 

It was agreed that: 
(i) points (a) to (n) in paragraph 3.4 of the report be 

approved*; 
(ii) the new structure shown in appendix 1 to the report be 

approved; 
(iii) groups created underneath Theme Groups be called 

Working Groups; 
(iv) the support for each Group shown in appendix 2 to the 

report be approved and the Groups under the ‘Stronger 
Communities’ Theme with no existing support be 
supported by BDHT (as agreed by MBrown); 

(v) the following be appointed as Chairs to the relevant 
Theme Group: 
§ Rachel Jones (Act on Energy) – Better 
Environment Theme Group; 

§ John Morgan (Representative of Small and 
Medium Businesses) – Economic Development 
Theme Group; 

§ Liz Altay (NHS Worcestershire) – Health and 
Wellbeing Theme Group; 

§ Councillor June Griffiths (Bromsgrove District 
Council) – Children and Young People Theme 
Group and it was hoped that Elaine Mortimore 
(Bromsgrove Youth Homelessness Forum) would 
continue her involvement on the Theme Group as 
Vice-Chair; and  

§ Mike Brown (Bromsgrove District Housing Trust) – 
Stronger Communities Theme Group; 

(vi) that Angie Heighway (Bromsgrove District Council) be 
nominated by the Board to be Chair of the Bromsgrove 
Community Safety Partnership Steering Group; 

(vii) membership and terms of reference for each theme 
group be reported to the Board; 

(viii) Ann Sowton (Bromsgrove and Redditch Network) 
remain as the Bromsgrove Partnership’s Champion for 
Older People; and 

(ix) any cross-cutting issues across different Theme Groups 
be addressed via the Board as necessary when Theme 
Group Chairs provide their progress report. 

 
*It was noted that with regards to the Bromsgrove 
Community Safety Partnership Steering Group (and the new 
Children’s Trust when implemented) certain points would 
not apply which were (b), (g), (k) and (l) under paragraph 
3.4 of the report. 
 
Trunk Action Plan 
Theme Group Chairs were reminded that the deadline for 
the completion of Assessment Forms and Action Plans 
relating to the Trunk was 31 March 2010.  The Board was 

 
DM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MBrown 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DM 
 
 

DM 
 
AS 
 
 

THEME GROUP 
CHAIRS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THEME GROUP 
CHAIRS 

Page 17



 4 

informed that a Theme Group Chairs meeting, involving the 
Board’s Chair and Vice-Chair, to discuss the Trunk’s Action 
Plan was scheduled to be held on 21 April 2010. 
  

 
 
 

Item 6 TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
The draft Terms of Reference for the Board was considered.  
Particular attention was given to the members of the Board 
listed on page 11 and the substitutions section on page 14.  
It was agreed that the Terms of Reference be adopted. 
 

 

Item 7 THEME GROUP PERFORMANCE UPDATES 
 
The following Theme Group updates were provided: 
 
Community Safety Partnership Steering Group 
AB and DS gave a progress report which was positive in 
terms of decreasing levels and perception of anti-social 
behaviour and vehicle crime figures were also down.  It was 
reported that there had been a slight increase in assaults 
but it was believed that it was possible this was due to 
changes in recording the information.  Effective marketing of 
the work of the Community Safety Partnership was also 
discussed. 
 
Better Environment Theme Group 
HB stated that in his new role, he would be attending future 
meetings of this Theme Group.  HB referred to the statutory 
target of reducing carbon emissions by 80% by 2050. 
 
Economic Development Theme Group 
It was reported that the new Theme Group had met for the 
first time in February when its terms of reference was 
discussed.  It was stated that the next meeting was due to 
be held on 30 March 2010. 
 
Town Centre Steering Group 
MD stated that work had commenced on the new Health 
Centre site and it was anticipated that the planning 
application submitted by Sainsbury’s would be determined 
within the next few months.  MD also referred to the new 
National Planning Policy relating to town centres which 
needed to be taken into consideration.  It was reported that 
work was continuing and by the end of the year, it was 
hoped more detailed timescales would be known, 
dependent on the recession. 
 
MD briefly explained Section 278 of the Highways Act and 
Section 106 of the Planning Act relating to Sainsbury’s 
planning application.  It was confirmed that any 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 5 

improvements to the High Street would be to the whole High 
Street although it was likely that it would be implemented in 
phases and would be funded by more than one source. 
 
RH provided an update on discussions relating to the blue 
light zone.  It was anticipated that the date of completion of 
the blue light zone would be 2013. 
 
Economic Theme Group and Successful Neighbourhoods 
Theme Group 
MG informed the Board of the social enterprise scheme 
hoping to be developed using various pots of funding.  MG 
also referred to funding cuts relating to adult education.  JH 
stated that although the overall budget for NEW College 
remained unchanged, in line with national priorities, there 
had been a decrease in funding for adult courses and an 
increase in funding for 16-19 year olds.  JH reported that 
NEW College were looking into this issue.  MG commented 
that such cuts to adult education seriously impacted on the 
work of the Trunk.  It was agreed that this should be 
discussed further at the Theme Group Chairs meeting due 
to be held on 21 April 2010 and therefore, a NEW College 
representative should be invited to the meeting.  
 
The funding for the Trunk from Worcestershire Partnership 
was also referred to and it was confirmed that it was still 
expected from DCLG (Department of Communities and 
Local Government) by 31 March 2010. 
 
Health and Wellbeing Theme Group 
LA reported on the PSI (Postural Stability Instruction)  
Programme for older people (also known as falls prevention) 
and the Healthy Eating Project in Sidemoor for young 
people (known as the SHED Project).  Both were to be 
funded through County Councillor contributions via the 
Community Leadership for Health Fund. 
 
Children and Young People Theme Group 
RH gave a brief update on the Local Children’s Trust 
arrangements and the plan to launch the Trust in April 2010.  
It was explained that the Trust would be a statutory body.  
Safeguarding issues was also briefly mentioned. 
 
Older People Theme Group 
AS referred to the Older People scrutiny exercise which had 
led to 20 recommendations including the Older People’s 
Directory.  It was hoped that the directory could be launched 
during Older People’s week in October. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DM / JH 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 6 

Housing Theme Group 
MBrown provided an update on the Perryfields affordable 
housing development which had received £8m external 
funding for the two and a half year scheme. 
 
There was a brief discussion around the concerns JC raised 
relating to the Regional Spatial Strategy and new housing 
proposals in Bromsgrove District.  It was believed that John 
Staniland (Executive Director of Planning, Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing) would be best placed to respond 
to these queries once he was up to speed in his new role, 
and therefore, an item would be included on a future agenda 
to allow an opportunity for discussion. 
 
Transport Theme Group 
HB reported that work relating to the train station was 
progressing and BURT (Bromsgrove Urban and Rural 
Transport) was operating well. 
 
Compact Steering Group 
Although the last Compact Steering Group had to be 
cancelled, partly due to Phil Street’s departure, it was 
reported that Angie Heighway would be taking this over in 
her new role at the Council as Head of Community, with the 
support of HB.   
 
AS stated that the National Volunteering Week Working 
Group was still meeting and work was progressing. 
 
General 
There was a brief discussion relating to community 
engagement and in particular PACT Meetings and Local 
Neighbourhood Partnerships.   
 
DS stated that Bromsgrove District was the only District 
where Council managers attended PACT meetings but it 
was understood that due to the move to a single 
management structure across Bromsgrove District and 
Redditch Borough Councils, Council officers were unable to 
continue the same level of support.   
 
It was stated that the Police were undertaking an audit to 
assess what worked well and what did not in relation to 
PACT meetings with a view to developing effective 
community engagement arrangements for the Police and 
partners. 
 
With regards to what was included within the Sustainable 
Community Strategy 2010-13, the Board was reminded that 
it was accurate at the time of writing and was updated on an 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

JS / DM 
 

Page 20



 7 

annual basis which was more frequent than many other 
LSPs updated their strategies. 
 

Item 8 WORCESTERSHIRE PARTNERSHIP UPDATE 
 
It was stated that the Worcestershire Partnership’s 
Management Group would be considering the option of 
developing a countywide Sustainable Community Strategy 
(SCS) and views of the Board were requested.  HB stated 
that he could not foresee any issues with a countywide SCS 
which incorporated a chapter for each District, as he 
believed it might assist the Bromsgrove Partnership in 
ensuring issues specific to Bromsgrove District would be 
highlighted at a County level.  Board members supported 
this view. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
KD 

Item 9 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 
MBryan informed the Board that, due to a colleague taking a 
career break, from April 2010, she would be taking on the 
role of Joint Partnership Co-ordinator for the Worcestershire 
Partnership. 
 

 
 
 

Item 10 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Members were reminded of the meeting dates already 
agreed for 2010/11 which were: 
§ Thursday 20 May 2010 
§ Thursday 29 July 2010 
§ Thursday 23 September 2010 
§ Thursday 25 November 2010 
§ Thursday 27 January 2011 
§ Thursday 31 March 2011 

 
 
 

ALL 

  
 

Meeting closed at 4.10pm 

 

   
 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



THE ENCLOSURES FOR THIS ITEM WILL FOLLOW ON A 
SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA 

Agenda Item 8

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



THERE ARE NO ENCLOSURES FOR THIS AGENDA ITEM  

Agenda Item 9

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28 APRIL 2010 
 

 

WETT – APPOINTMENT TO JOINT COMMITTEE AND DELEGATION OF 
REGULATORY SERVICES FUNCTIONS 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Peter Whittaker 
Relevant Head of Service Claire Felton 
 
1.  SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 This report asks the Cabinet to agree to the Council’s nomination of two 

representatives to the Worcestershire Shared Services Joint Committee 
which will oversee shared services provided under the WETT programme.   

 
1.2 This report also requests Cabinet to delegate to the Worcestershire Shared 

Services Joint Committee such of its Regulatory Services functions as will 
become the responsibility of the Joint Committee with effect from the 
commencement of a unified Regulatory Services function on 1st June 2010 

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 That the Cabinet agrees to the Council’s nomination of two members 

to the Worcestershire Shared Services Joint Committee such 
appointment to continue until the Annual Meeting in 2011. 

 
2.2 That the Cabinet agrees that its Regulatory Services be delegated to 

the Worcestershire Shared Services Joint Committee 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In January 2010 Council agreed to participate in enhanced two tier working 

with other authorities in Worcestershire.  In particular Council agreed that a 
unified Regulatory Service comprising Environmental Health functions, 
Licensing functions and Trading Standards functions for the Worcestershire 
Councils, jointly hosted by Bromsgrove and Redditch Councils would be 
established from 1st June 2010 under the auspices of a Joint Committee. 
Council further agreed that with effect from 1 June 2010 this Council’s 
Regulatory Services functions would be discharged by that Joint Committee 
and accordingly agreed to delegate its Regulatory Services functions to that 
Joint Committee with effect from 1 June 2010.   
  

4. KEY ISSUES 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 27



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28 APRIL 2010 
 

 

4.1 It is proposed that the Joint Committee, which will exercise both executive 
and non-executive functions, will comprise 14 members being 2 members 
from each authority in Worcestershire.  There are requirements that: 

 
4.1.1 the number of members to be appointed and their term of office shall 

be fixed by the Council with the agreement of the Cabinet; and 
 
4.1.2 at least one of those members must be a member of the Cabinet; 

 
 4.1.3 the members appointed must reflect the political balance of the 

Council. 
 
4.2 Council has nominated two members to sit on the Joint Committee and 

Cabinet is requested to agree to those nominations.     
 
4.3 Council has already agreed to delegate to the Joint Committee the 

Council’s functions in relation to Regulatory Services with effect from 1 
June 2010.  Cabinet is now requested to make the corresponding 
delegation in relation to executive Regulatory Services functions. 

 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The Business Case for Regulatory Services was considered by Council on 

20 January 2010.  This report does not add any further financial 
implications. 
 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Section 101(5) of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended enables two 

or more local authorities to arrange for the discharge of any of their 
functions jointly and where arrangements are in force for them to do so they 
may arrange for the discharge of those functions by a joint committee.   

 
6.2 S102 of that Act enables authorities to appoint members to a joint 

committee established for the purpose of discharging functions in pursuance 
of arrangements made under s101 and requires. 

 
6.3 The Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of 

Functions) (England) Regulations 2001 paragraph 12 (1C) requires that in 
respect of joint committees discharging both executive and non-executive 
functions and more than one member of the authority is a 

Page 28



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28 APRIL 2010 
 

 

member of the Joint Committee, at least one Member of the 
Executive of the Authority shall be a member of the Joint Committee.   

 
6.4 It is a requirement that the Council fixes the number of members and the 

term of office under s102 of the Local Government Act 1972 and under 
paragraph    11(3B) of the Regulations referred to in 6.3 above.   

  
7. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no direct policy implications.    
 
8. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1    CO2 – Improvement, Priority - Value for Money, Key Deliverables – Shared 

Services and Efficiencies  
 
9. RISK MANAGEMENT INCLUDING HEALTH & SAFETY 

CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 The main risks associated with the details included in this report are: 
 

• Failure to follow the statutory process 
 

9.2    These risks are being managed as follows:  
 
Risk Register: Legal & Democratic Services 
Key Objective Ref No:    
Key Objective: Effective Ethical Governance  

  
10. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 N/a 
 
11. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None 
 
12. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT AND ASSET 

MANAGEMENT 
 
12.1 N/a  
 

Page 29



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28 APRIL 2010 
 

 

13. CLIMATE CHANGE, CARBON IMPLICATIONS AND BIODIVERSITY 
 
13.1 N/a 

 
14. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
  
14.1 None  
 
15. GOVERNANCE/PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
  
15.1 The governance arrangements for the Joint Committee have already been 

reported to Council.   
 
16. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS INCLUDING SECTION 17 OF 

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
  
16.1 N/a  
 
17. HEALTH INEQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
  
17.1 None  
 
18. LESSONS LEARNT 
 
18.1 N/a  
 
19. COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
19.1 N/a  
 
20. OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Yes 

Chief Executive 
 

Yes 

Executive Director (S151 Officer) 
 

Yes 

Executive Director – Leisure, Cultural, 
Environmental and Community Services 
 

No 

Executive Director – Planning & Regeneration, No 

Page 30



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28 APRIL 2010 
 

 

Regulatory and Housing Services  
 
Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships 
 

No 

Head of Service 
 

Yes 

Head of Resources  
 

No 

Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic 
Services 
 

Yes 

Corporate Procurement Team 
 

No 

 
21. WARDS AFFECTED 
 

All wards  
 
22. APPENDICES 
 
 None  
 
23. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

None  
 

AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:   Claire Felton  
E Mail:  c.felton@bromsgrove.gov.uk  or  
Tel:       (01527) 881429 

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28th April 2010 
 

 

CHANGES TO GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Geoff Denaro 
Relevant Head of Service Claire Felton  
Non-Key Decision  
 
1.  SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007requires 

every authority operating a Leader and Cabinet model to change its 
executive arrangements in accordance with a statutory timetable.  This 
report sets out what the necessary changes mean, what steps need to be 
taken and requests Cabinet to make appropriate recommendations to 
Council.   

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 The Cabinet is asked to RECOMMEND to the Council the model which 

should form the basis for consultation; and 
 
2.2 The Cabinet is asked to RECOMMEND to Council the consultation 

process to be adopted  
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Local Government Act 2000 required all authorities to adopt executive 

arrangements in one of three forms, namely: 
• A Mayor and Cabinet executive; or 
• A Leader and Cabinet executive; or 
• A Mayor and Council Manager. 

 
3.2 This Council adopted a Leader and Cabinet executive. 
 
3.3 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 abolishes 

the Mayor and Council Manager model and replaces the Leader and 
Cabinet executive model with a  Leader and Cabinet Executive (England) 
model which is known as the “Strong Leader” model. The Strong Leader 
model is a different legal form of executive to the old-style Leader and 
Cabinet model.  It is a requirement of the Act that the Council changes its 
governance arrangements to either the Strong Leader model or the Mayor 
and Cabinet model in accordance with a statutory timetable.   

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 33



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28th April 2010 
 

 

3.4 The Council must draw up proposals for change, consult on those 
proposals, take a decision and implement the proposals in readiness for the 
municipal year commencing in May 2011. 

  
4. KEY ISSUES 
 
4.1 Under the new Strong Leader model, the Council elects a Leader, all 

executive powers then vest in the Leader and the Leader is then 
responsible for: 

 
• Determining the size of the Cabinet; 
• Appointing the members of the Cabinet; 
• Allocating portfolios or areas of responsibility to the various Cabinet 
Members; 

• Allocating decision-making powers to the Cabinet and to individual 
Cabinet Members; and 

• Removing and replacing Cabinet members. 
 
4.2 The Leader must be elected for a 4 year term of office. 
 
4.3 However, there are 3 key differences to the current Leader and Cabinet 

model:   
 

• The Leader’s term of office is extended beyond the 4th day after the 
local elections to run up to the day of the first annual meeting after 
the Leader’s normal day of retirement as a Councillor; 

 
• During his/her term of office the Leader will automatically cease to be 
Leader on death or disqualification, but may only be removed from 
office by a resolution of Council.  Currently an authority’s Constitution 
may specify other means of removing a Leader, such as notification 
that he/she has ceased to be Leader of the relevant political group; 
and 

 
• There is a requirement for the Leader to nominate a Deputy leader 
who may act if the Leader is unable to act or the post of Leader is 
vacant.  Currently, a Deputy Leader may only exercise the “portfolio 
responsibilities” of the Leader in his/her absence as opposed to the 
statutory functions. 

 

Page 34



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28th April 2010 
 

 

4.4 District Councils have to pass the relevant resolution by 31st December 
2010 and implement the change 3 days after the local elections in May 
2011. 

 
4.5 The legislation sets out a 3-stage process: 
 
 Stage 1 

The Council must take reasonable steps to consult the local government 
electors and other interested persons in the area.  At this stage there is a 
choice of moving either to a Strong Leader executive model or to a Mayor 
and Cabinet executive model.  Cabinet is requested to consider the 
preferred option on which to consult and make recommendations to Council. 
 
The extent of the consultation is not prescribed.  The Council may decide to 
opt for a full and detailed consultation process involving road shows and 
questionnaires to all electors.  At the other end of the spectrum the Council 
may decide to formally seek the views of a limited number of partner 
authorities and organisations, and place a modest advertisement in the local 
press and on the Council’s website. 
 
Stage 2 
The Council must then draw up proposals, the implementation timetable and 
any transitional arrangements.  In drawing up these proposals the Council 
must have regard to economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  These 
proposals should be agreed at a meeting of the full Council and must then 
be made available to the public, but no period for publicity is prescribed. 
 
Stage 3 
The Council must by 31 December 2010 resolve to implement the proposals 
with effect from May 2011.  

 
4.6 This report requests Cabinet to recommend to Council the preferred option 

on which to consult ie a Strong Leader model or the Mayor and Cabinet 
model.  There are only 2 options: 

 
a) the Strong Leader executive model, set out above; or 
 
b) An elected Mayor and Cabinet executive whereby a Mayor is 
elected directly by the electorate for a 4 year period and he/she must 
appoint at least 2 members to the Cabinet. 

 

Page 35



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28th April 2010 
 

 

The vast majority of local authorities have to date favoured the Strong 
Leader and Cabinet model.  Moving to the Strong Leader model would not 
differ significantly from the current governance model adopted by this 
Council, as the Constitution currently empowers the Leader to determine the 
size of the Cabinet, appoint the members of the Cabinet, allocate portfolios 
or areas of responsibility to the various Cabinet Members and remove and 
replace Cabinet members.  This would be the least disruptive to implement 
and would incur the least cost to the Council. 

 
4.7 The key difference with an elected Mayor is that it is the electorate which 

selects the Mayor, not in effect the controlling political group, and the Mayor 
would be under no obligation to select the Cabinet members from the 
controlling political Group. 

 
4.8 If the Council’s proposals are to move to a Mayor and Cabinet model, a 

referendum would be required.     
 
4.9 Cabinet is requested to make recommendations to Council as to which 

model should form the basis of the consultation process.  Cabinet is also 
requested to make recommendations to Council as to the form of 
consultation to be taken. 
 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The consultation process will incur cost.  The extent of the cost will depend 

on the extent of the consultation process.  A low-key consultation process 
will involve the cost of notices the local press which will cost up to £1500 to 
ensure that all areas of the district are covered.  A full-scale consultation 
process will cost up to approximately £50,000.  No budgetary provision 
currently exists.  
 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 inserts 

new provisions into the Local Government Act 2000 which make changes to 
the form of executive arrangements which the authority can have. The legal 
implications of these changes are set out in the report. Dependent on the 
form of Executive arrangements which is eventually selected, the Council’s 
Constitution will need to be changed to reflect the arrangements chosen. 

 
7. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 36



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28th April 2010 
 

 

7.1 This matter has not previously been considered by Council and therefore full 
Council approval will be required.    

 
8. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1    N/a 
 
9. RISK MANAGEMENT INCLUDING HEALTH & SAFETY 

CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 The main risks associated with the details included in this report are: 
 

• Failure to follow the statutory process 
 

9.2    These risks are being managed as follows:  
 
Risk Register: Legal & Democratic Services 
Key Objective 3: Effective Ethical Governance   

  
10. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council how consultation with the 

electorate and key partners should take place. 
 
11. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 N/a 
 
12. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT AND ASSET 

MANAGEMENT 
 
12.1 N/a  
 
13. CLIMATE CHANGE, CARBON IMPLICATIONS AND BIODIVERSITY 
 
13.1 None 

 
14. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
  
14.1 None  
 
15. GOVERNANCE/PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

Page 37



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28th April 2010 
 

 

  
15.1 Governance implications are set out in the report   
 
16. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS INCLUDING SECTION 17 OF 

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
  
16.1 None  
 
17. HEALTH INEQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
  
17.1 None 
 
18. LESSONS LEARNT 
 
18.1 N/a   
 
19. COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
19.1 Cabinet is requested to decided the extent and nature of any community 

and stakeholder engagement in the consultation process  
 
20. OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Yes 

Chief Executive 
 

Yes 

Executive Director (S151 Officer) 
 

Yes 

Executive Director – Leisure, Cultural, 
Environmental and Community Services 
 

No 

Executive Director – Planning & Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing Services  
 

No 

Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships 
 

No 

Head of Service 
 

Yes 

Head of Resources  
  

No 

Page 38



 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
 

CABINET  28th April 2010 
 

 

Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic 
Services 
 

Yes 

Corporate Procurement Team 
 

No 

 
21. WARDS AFFECTED 
 

All wards  
 
22. APPENDICES 
 
 None 
 
23. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

None 
 

24. KEY 
 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:   Claire Felton   
E Mail: c.felton@bromsgrove.gov.uk  

Tel:       (01527) 881429  

Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



  

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

28 APRIL 2010  
 

 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES 
 
Responsible Portfolio Holder  Cllr James Duddy 
Responsible Director Executive Director Planning and 

Regeneration 
Non-Key Decision  
 
1.  SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The report seeks endorsement of the broader Economic Development 

Strategy of the District (other than the specific proposals of the Town 
Centre). It also seeks approval to work in partnership with Redditch Borough 
Council and Wyre Forest District Council to improve Economic Development 
activity across the north of the County. A further report will examine a longer 
term Economic Development Strategy for North Worcestershire . 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION  
 
2.1  That the Economic Development Strategy as outlined below be approved 
        for continued implementation. 
  
3. BACKGROUND 
 
Introduction 
 
 3.1 The Bromsgrove Economic Development Strategy has been successfully 

refined and implemented for several years. In the current economic climate, 
and in the light of the Town Centre project it is felt that it is important for 
members to understand the fundamental drivers of the Bromsgrove District 
Economy and how this relates to sub-regional, regional and national 
circumstances and government policies. 

  
Brief History of the Bromsgrove Economy 
 
3.2  In medieval times Bromsgrove was a market town surrounded mainly by 

agriculture. During the 18th and 19th centuries it was famous for nailmaking 
and Belbroughton became a centre of the scythe industry which was very 
important before the mechanisation of farming. By the turn of the 20th 
century the town was moving into engineering and became a major supplier 
to the motor industry during the heyday of Longbridge from the 1920s 
onward. Local firms also expanded to supply the other motor manufacturers 

Agenda Item 12

Page 41



 

both in the UK and overseas. Garringtons Forgings and Rover became the 
district’s biggest employers. 

 
3.3  When both Garringtons and Rover failed in the early years of the present 

century the effect was alarming but short-lived. At one point unemployment 
climbed from its usual level around 1.5% up to 2.6%, but it soon fell back 
again. The reason for this was that the economic base had been gradually 
changing in a way which underpins the relative prosperity which the town 
and district enjoy today. 

 
3.4   Since 1945 but especially from the 1970s onwards, the Bromsgrove district 

became increasingly attractive as a residential area. The Council’s housing 
policies encouraged this and several new private housing developments 
attracted workers from the greater Birmingham area for whom it was an 
easy commute. Many of these workers were in the professional and 
managerial groups and consequently the district began to acquire an up-
market demographic profile with above-average household incomes. 
Following this, the new business parks in the district became increasingly 
sought after by small-medium professional or service companies. Again, 
these highly skilled owner-managers brought prosperity into the district and 
have begun to reverse the trend of outward commuting to the point where 
one third of commuter journeys on the A38 Birmingham Road 
(Worcestershire’s busiest commuter route) are coming in to Bromsgrove. 

 
3.5  Bromsgrove has occasionally been described, somewhat disparagingly, as 

a dormitory town. Today that term is redundant and irrelevant.  Because the 
skilled labour force is so mobile, almost any town or village in the UK within 
an hour’s journey of one of our major conurbations could have a similar 
commuting profile to Bromsgrove. Furthermore, outward commuters should 
not be discouraged: they generally earn significantly more than those who 
live and work in the district. The challenge is to persuade them to spend 
their disposable income here.. 

 
Economic Profile – Employment and Occupations 
 
3.7 Bromsgrove was recently described by the Birmingham Post as ‘Britain’s 

most hardworking town’ . This followed publication of an Office of National 
Statistics report revealing that 90% of the ‘eligible’ working population (ie. 
aged 16 – 65) were actually in work.  This compares with Worcestershire at 
83.5%, West Midlands at 77.3% and UK at 78.5%. ** 

 
3.8 Within Worcestershire the Bromsgrove District also has the largest 

percentage of its workforce in senior managerial, professional or technical 
occupations, and the highest percentage of self-employed. It also has the 
highest number of female employees working full time (indicating higher 
levels of education and achievement among women, since the more familiar 
pattern is for many women to be in part time employment) and the highest 
number of people employed in small businesses. Conversely it has the 

Page 42



 

lowest percentage in unskilled occupations and the lowest levels of 
claimants of state benefits (except for age-related benefits). 

 
3.8.1 Employment Profile (Industries) 
 
The main categories of employment in the Bromsgrove district are:- 
 
Public Adminstration, education, health             24.6% 
Banking, finance, insurance                                21.4% 
Distribution, hotels, restaurants                          20.4% 
Manufacturing                                                     12.3% 
 
3.8.2. Level of employment (employed residents) 
 
Managers, senior officials                               19.2% 
Professionals                                                  13.4% 
Associate professional, technical                      14.2% 
Admin / secretarial                                            13.0% 
Skilled workers                                                    11.7% 
 
3.9.1 Incomes 
 
From the foregoing data it would come as no surprise that the district has the 
highest average household income at £37,085, which compares with:- 
 

Worcestershire  £34,737 
West Midlands  £30,515 
England   £34,166 

 
However, there is a marked difference between those who live in Bromsgrove 
and those who work in Bromsgrove which demonstrates the higher incomes of 
outward commuters:- 

Median gross weekly pay for full-time employees 

Residence based 2008 (i.e. people who live in Bromsgrove)     £570.00 

Workplace based 2008 (i.e. people who work in Bromsgrove)   £406.20 

This is an annualized difference of £8517.60 

Sources: WCC Economic Assessment 07/08, Office of National Statistics, Annual 
Business Enquiry, Annual Population Survey, Chamber of Commerce. Annual Survey 
of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) 

 
 
 
 

Page 43



 

4. RELEVANT ECONOMIC STRATEGIES 
 
4.1 In setting Bromsgrove’s Economic strategy we have had to consider both 

the regional and county strategies. They are as follows: 
 
4.1.1 Regional Strategy – Advantage West Midlands 
 

This Strategy sets an ambitious vision for the West Midlands:- 
 

‘To be a global centre where people and businesses choose to connect.’ 
 

The key objectives of the AWM Strategy are:- 
 

• To close the ‘productivity gap’ between the West Midlands and the 
national average. Currently the WM underperforms in terms of GVA 
per head. This is caused by the structure of the economy (ie low-
value) and economic exclusion or worklessness. 

 
• To encourage diversification of the economy and development of hi-

tech, high value industries. 
 
• To promote innovation – the development of new products 
 
• Thereby to improve the region’s competitiveness 
  
• To raise education and skills levels for both technical and managerial 

workers. Lack of these qualifications being a major obstacle to 
modernization and growth.   

 
4.1.2 County Strategy – Worcestershire County Council 

 
The Vision is:- 
 
‘In ten years time, technology led growth will enliven the whole economy 
and provide high skilled jobs, good remuneration and improved quality of 
life for all residents’ 
 
The principal objectives of the Worcestershire County Strategy are:- 
 
• Encourage and facilitate knowledge and technology spread to all 

sectors and parts of the County. 
 
• Promote Business Enterprise and Business growth 
 
• Developing ‘clusters’ with growth potential 
 
• Improve skill level to match business needs and for emerging 

technologies. Especially management and leadership skills 
 

Page 44



 

• Exploit the potential of key regeneration sites 
 
• Participate in regional and sub-regional economic projects 
 
• Improve support for Rural Businesses especially agriculture. 
 

5. TRANSLATING STRATEGY INTO ACTION 
 
5.1 Both Regional (AWM) and County Strategies are, for the most part, 

imprecise as to the exact manner in which their aims are to be fulfilled ie 
what precise actions are to be taken as this needs to be undertaken at a 
more local level taking into account the needs of the area. Where actions 
are specified they tend to involve ‘engaging’ with various groups or bodies, 
‘seeking to influence’, setting up new committees or developing a sub-
regional strategy. The purpose of this report is therefore to present for 
members consideration Bromsgrove Economic Strategy together with the 
action plan to achieve delivery.  

 
5.2 In developing the Bromsgrove Economic Strategy we have also considered 

the Council’s own vision for the future expressed in the Community Strategy 
Plan.  Economic Development plays a key role in this, not only as an 
objective in itself but insofar as it contributes to items such as ‘well being’ 
and ‘stronger communities’:   

• Communities that are safe and feel safe.  
• A better environment – for today and tomorrow.  
• Economic success that is shared by all.  
• Improving health and well being.  
• Meeting the needs of children and young people.  
• Stronger communities. 

 
6. BROMSGROVE DISTRICT ECONOMIC STRATEGY 
 
6.1 The Bromsgrove Economic Strategy is both a plan for the future and a 

report on the last 8 years’ achievements. Most of the components contained 
herein are proven programmes which have delivered against specific 
objectives. All the programmes aim to deliver implementation of Regional 
and County strategies as well as the Council’s policies.  

 
 
6.2   Inward Investment Marketing 
 
 Advertising 
 

Bromsgrove is one of the few authorities which actively promotes inward 
investment (ie the attraction of new companies) by advertising. Our 
research revealed that most enquiries come from the greater Birmingham 
area and we therefore advertise in the Birmingham Post which targets 
business readers in this catchment area.  We have negotiated special rates 

Page 45



 

for our advertisements to appear in the centre of the share prices page. 
(Occasionally we advertise in other business publications when there is a 
relevant editorial feature eg business prospects in Worcestershire). 

 
Our advertisements are produced to a highly professional standard by our 
in-house designer and the advertising space bought directly, not through an 
agency, by the EDM. (Both these officers have experience of working in 
advertising.)  
 
This campaign has generated significant awareness of Bromsgrove as an 
attractive business location. Although enquiries have declined badly in 
recent months, prior to the recession about one third of enquirers mentioned 
our advertisements when contacting us.  
 
Forward strategy 

• During 2010/11 we shall continue to promote Bromsgrove as a 
business destination. This will take the form of advertising in relevant 
business publications, notably the Birmingham Post share prices 
page.  

 
• We shall participate in appropriate business meetings / conferences 

organized by Businesslink, Chamber of Commerce, AWM and local 
organizations. 

 
• These activities fulfil the WCC strategic aim ‘to Promote Business  

Enterprise and Business growth’. They also reflect the AWM 
strategic aims of closing the productivity gap and the region’s 
competitiveness. However, it should be remembered that, compared 
with other parts of the West Midlands, the Bromsgrove district is 
already very productive economically. 

 
 
 Property Guide 
 

The ED department produces a quarterly Property Guide which aims to 
capture details of all commercial property available for sale or let. 
Information is supplied by approximately sixty commercial estate agents and 
landlords. This publication is dispatched to all enquirers. It is also available 
on the BDC website.  
 

 Rapid response 
 

Upon receiving a telephone enquiry the EDM will offer three options:- 
• To send the Property Guide by email and/or post 
• To telephone the most likely estate agents/landlords and put them in 

contact with the enquirer direct. 
• Invite the enquirer to a tour of the district taking in the business sites. 

 

Page 46



 

This process has sometimes resulted in enquirers hearing from estate 
agents/landlords within ten minutes of their initial enquiry. The district tour 
was instrumental in attracting ‘Basepoint’ to Bromsgrove Technology Park. 
Until the recession, the level of enquiries was about 2 per week. 
Bromsgrove’s business parks have a high level of occupancy. 
 
Forward strategy 

• We shall continue to produce the Property Guide on a quarterly basis and 
have already increased the size and scoping to capture an increasing 
number of vacant properties due to the recession. 

 
• We shall redesign the format to modernise the publication’s appearance 

 
• This aligns with AWM and WCC strategies especially to promote 

enterprise and growth.   
 
6.3 Bromsgrove Technology Park 
 
Bromsgrove Economic Development was instrumental in securing the investment 
for the technology park from Advantage West Midlands when the site became 
available. The EDM serves on the site steering group and has provided the 
estate agents with several further leads besides Basepoint. The site was 
designed for hi-tech businesses within the ‘knowledge economy’. It was officially 
launched in 2006 and is currently about 25% sold. Total marketable area approx 
20 acres.  This meets targets set for ED. In addition to AWM, Bromsgrove ED co-
operates with the Central Technology Belt who have an interest in promoting the 
Knowledge Economy. 
 
Although there was initially strong interest in the site the recession has taken its 
toll and there have been no serious enquiries for some months.  
Both the developers (PXP – a joint venture between Advantage West Midlands 
and Laings) and agents (Thomas Lister) are currently pessimistic about inward 
investment from hi-tech industries. They were not receptive to the EDM’s recent 
proposal for a carefully targeted direct marketing campaign 
 
6.4  Longbridge 
 
There is one major employment site within the Bromsgrove District – the Cofton 
Centre. This is under development by St Modwen who have built two large 
industrial units (27,000 sq ft and 47,000 sq ft). Due to the current economic 
climate it has taken considerable time to dispose of these units, however the 
larger unit has now been sold and is expected to create around 150 new jobs. .. 
 
Forward Strategy – Technology Park and Longbridge 
 

• We shall seek to persuade our partners to join us in a more pro-active 
direct marketing approach targeted at hi-tech, knowledge-based 
companies rather than the general approach which is presently adopted. 

 

Page 47



 

• We shall continue collaboration with private sector partners, AWM and the 
WCC and thus ensuring that our strategy is compatible with regional and 
sub-regional aims (see above). 

 
• These activities align with AWM strategy of development of hi-tech, high 

value industries and with all aspects of County strategy, especially 
exploiting potential of key regeneration sites. 

 
 
 
6.5  Bromsgrove Business Start-up Programme 
 
Over the last 9 years Bromsgrove Economic Development has assisted 
approximately 300 new businesses with a training programme and a £500 start-
up grant.  Follow up research reveals that there is at least 75% survival rate (after 
18 months), a good rate for new, often inexperienced entrepreneurs.  Three of 
these businesses now have turnovers of more than £1 million and several others 
have six figure turnovers.  We estimate that these businesses have created 
approximately 750 jobs which is more than the number of Bromsgrove residents 
employed at either Rover or United Engineering Forgings at the time of their 
closure. 
 
In 2007 the Council was given the Federation of Small Businesses Local 
Authority Award for this work. The programme is also a good example of 
partnership working with North East Worcestershire College who provide the 
training with funding from the EU via Businesslink.  In 2009/10 the programme 
was be extended to Redditch BC. It was also adopted and part-funded by WCC 
as the model for business start-up programmes across the County. This will 
continue during 2010/11. (We also received a request from Malvern Hills DC to 
advise them on its introduction). 
 
The Business Start-up Programme has consistently met or exceeded its targets – 
currently 30 new starts per annum.  Economic Development hosts an annual 
‘Business Showcase’ in the Council chamber at which around 25 businesses can 
exhibit. We award prizes for achievements in various categories. The event is 
always well attended; it provides a useful networking opportunity for small 
businesses, an opportunity for councillors to meet them, and an excellent PR 
exercise for BDC. 
 
Forward Strategy 
 

• The Business Start-up Programme is a programme ‘for all seasons’ in that 
it is difficult to envisage any circumstances when we would not want to run 
it. It is aligned to and continues to reflect AWM, County and BDC 
strategies but it transcends current strategies in its universal application 
and long term success. 

 
• The target for 09/10 is was initially 30 new starts which carried a budget of 

£15,000. Following the Leader’s ‘Recession Actions’ meeting we 

Page 48



 

augmented this by virements from other budgets and obtained further 
funding from WCC. This enabled us to achieev a record 50 new starts for 
09/10. 

 
• Dependent on funding we shall seek to maintain activity at the higher level 

during 10/11 
 
  6.6 ‘Young Enterprise’ 
 

The EDM serves on the local board of ‘Young Enterprise’ which aims to 
encourage young people to consider a career in industry and commerce. 
Competitions are held between school teams who create and run 
companies assuming the roles of Managing Director, Finance Director, 
Sales Director etc. The 2009 area final was held at Redditch Town Hall 
sponsored by Elonex Computers and Bromsgrove Economic Development 
The 2010 finals will be held at Bromsgrove South High School sponsored by 
Oakland International, Dominos Pizza and Bumble Hole Eggs. 

 
 
6.7  Town Centre activities and promotions 
 
The Council is currently engaged in a wide ranging project  to redevelop 
Bromsgrove Town Centre.  This is contained within separate proposals: a 
steering group meets regularly to progress the project. Prior to that BDC/ED has 
developed a range of activities to stimulate business in the town centre. 
  
           6.7.1 Retailers’ meetings 
 

Economic Development organise quarterly town centre meetings to which 
all retailers and market traders are invited. These meetings discuss a 
range of topics affecting town centre trading including parking charges, 
Town Centre re-development, promotional ideas, markets and other 
events. 

 
6.7.2  Bromsgrove High Street Market(formerly within Market Hall) 
 
The Market Hall, like many indoor markets in other towns, had been in 
decline for several years and the Council made the decision to close the 
building at the end of February 2009.  The Market re-opened in the High 
Street on March 7th 2009.  It has been widely welcomed by traders, 
shopkeepers and the general public. Traders are quite emphatic that their 
business has improved. There is anecdotal evidence of footfall increase 
and increased customer presence in shops. The High street Market rental 
income was forecast at £50,000 for the first 12 months; we actually 
achieved £80,000 
 
 
Forward strategy 
 

Page 49



 

• The High Street market has, in a short time, become the principal footfall 
generating activity run by the Council. We therefore intend to build it up 
further and refine and improve it continually. It will continue for the 
forseeable future. We shall only accept good quality traders with a high 
standard of goods and presentation. 
 

• During the first financial year of operation it was proposed that stall rents 
would be reviewed after 6 months. Following that review in October, rents  
were raised by 3-4% in November 2010  
 

• The Market Hall site will be redeveloped hopefully with a major retailer.  
 

6.7.3 Bromsgrove Farmers’ Market 
 
Starting in October 2000 in the High Street, this monthly event has been 
highly successful and very popular with local shoppers. A good range of 
produce is offered and it is regarded by farmers as one of the leading FMs 
in the Midlands. Bromsgrove Farmers’ Market has received positive 
reports in the Sunday Times, the Observer and the Birmingham Post 
besides featuring on television and local radio. Over the years, several 
other authorities have sought our advice on running a successful FM and 
farmers have been known to refer to using the ‘Bromsgrove Model’ when a 
new one is proposed in another town. 
 

           Forward strategy: Ongoing 
 

6.7.4.  Christmas Market 
 

This annual event was introduced in 2004 and occureds on a Sunday in 
mid-December. It was well-attended and it coincided with the ‘free parking’ 
concession which is given for the pre-Christmas weekends. However, 
since we are now running 3 markets per week it has been decided to 
incorporate this event into the nearest pre-Christmas event. Economic 
Development also provides support for Rubery events. 
 
Forward strategy: Ongoing 
 

           6.7.5  High Street – footfall generators 
 

Economic development works in collaboration with Culture and 
Community Services to organise other events in the High street – notably 
the St. George’s Day attractions, the Summer Holiday Children’s 
Entertainments and  and the Court Leet. 
 
Forward strategy: Ongoing 

 
           
 
  

Page 50



 

6.7.6.  High Street Commercial Promotions 
 

During the last 2 years ED has arranged several commercial promotions in 
the High Street for companies like npower, Legal Consultancy, Suzuki, 
and Sky TV.  This is an income generating initiative. We charge £50 per 
day for this service which requires minimal administration.  
 
Forward strategy: Ongoing 

 
 
 
7.  WORCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC PARTNERSHIP (WEP) 
 
 WEP is a sub-group of the Worcestershire Partnership. It consists of all the 

Economic Development Managers from the County and Districts and meets 
each month to discuss strategic and operational items particularly in 
connection with the Local Area Agreement. 

   
7.1  Local Area Agreement 
 A principal component of the Local Area Agreement is development of the 
Knowledge Economy in which Bromsgrove ED plays a key role with the 
marketing of Bromsgrove Technology Park.          

 
        7.2  Facing the Recession or ‘Credit Crunch’ 

A meeting took place at County Hall on December 2008 to co-ordinate the 
work of various organizations – eg Local Authorities, Chamber of 
Commerce, AWM, Jobcentres, Police – in establishing a strategy to 
overcome the recession. This began implementation during  2009 and will 
continue during 2010. (this will be supported by BDC’s own response to the 
economic downturn) 

 
 7.3  Worklessness 

This has become a serious problem throughout the UK in the last ten years. 
Via the Worcestershire Partnership and the Local Area Agreement we shall 
be exploring ways in which we can contribute to plans currently in 
preparation by AWM.  AWM are making about £12.5 million available 
regionally over three years, starting in 09/10. The intention is to focus funds 
and programmes on those people who are the most disadvantaged.  AWM 
are adamant that this funding is for people who are disabled or with health 
conditions, lone parents, ethnic minorities, older people and people with low 
or now qualifications.  .   
 
The programme is not intended for anyone who is made redundant due to 
the current economic issues.  This is very much aimed at those people who 
are steeped in worklessness to the second or even third generation.  

 
 
 
 

Page 51



 

8. NORTH WORCESTERSHIRE STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP  
 
8.1 Joint working is already proceeding with Redditch (see above).  Members of 

the three north Worcestershire Councils are expected to approve a shared 
Economic Development service for Bromsgrove, Redditch and Wyre Forest.  

 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Budgetary provision already exists for most of the programme.  
 
10. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 None apparent 
 
11. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
11.1  Contributes to Regeneration 
 
12. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
12.1 Risks are contained and monitored within Risk Register 

  
13. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1  Surveys to be carried out to assess customer satisfction 
 
14. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 Equalities Assessment completed. Economic Development attends E&D 

meetings to assess requirements 
 
15. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS 
 
15.1  
 
16. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
  
 

Procurement Issues: None directly related to the report 
 
Personnel Implications: None directly related to the report 
 
Governance/Performance Management: None apparent 
 
Community Safety  including Section 17 of Crime and Disorder Act 
1998: Not relevant 
 
Policy: Economic Development is covered by existing policies. 

Page 52



 

 
Environmental : None 
 

 
 
12. OTHERS TO BE CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 
  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Yes 

Chief Executive 
 

Yes 

Executive Director - Partnerships and Projects  
 

Yes 

Executive Director - Services 
 

 

Assistant Chief Executive 
 

 

Head of Service (P & E) 
 

Yes 

Head of Financial Services 
 

 

Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic 
Services 
 

 

Head of Organisational Development & HR 
 

 

Corporate Procurement Team 
 

 

 
13. WARDS AFFECTED 
 All wards   
 
14. APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix 1:   Economic Development Action schedule 
 
 
15. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
          None 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Name:   Peter Michael, Economic Development Manager 
E Mail:  p.michael@bromsgrove.gov.uk 
Tel:       (01527) 881327 

Page 53



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



  

PROJECT SCHEDULE – and Main budget items 
 
PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION OBJECTIVE BUDGET 
Inward Investment 
Marketing 

Advertisements in Birmingham 
Post Business share prices 
page and animated 
advertisement in BP online 
site. Occasional 
advertisements in other 
publications especially with 
regeneration features. 

Create awareness of 
Bromsgrove as business 
destination within most 
frequent catchment area. 
Ongoing throughout year 
 
Fulfils both AWM and WCC 
objectives 

 
£ 10,205 

Bromsgove Industrial & 
Commercial Property Guide  

Quarterly publication 
produced in-house 

Aims to capture all available 
ind/comm. Properties in 
district. Distributed in 
response to adverts. Also on 
BDC website. Compatible with 
AWM and WCC objectives 

Internal costs only + officer 
time 

Bromsgrove Technology 
Park 

20 acre park aimed at hi-tech 
businesses.   

To advance Knowledge 
Economy – aligns with 
national, regional and sub-
regional objectives.  ED’s role 
to work with developer and 
encourage targeted marketing 
. 

Promotion by developer (PXP) 

Cofton Centre – Longbridge New 35 acre business park Create employment for lesser 
skilled workers to replace jobs 
lost by Rover closure. Part of 
the Longbridge regeneration 
project, compatible with 
regional and local trategies. 
ED’s role to work with 
developer and encourage 
promotion. 

Promotion by developer – St 
Modwen 

P
age 55



 

PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION OBJECTIVE BUDGET 
Business Start-up 
Programme 

Training and grants for new 
business starts. Run in 
partnership with Businesslink, 
NEW College and other 
trainers. 

To stimulate local economy. 
To assist those unemployed 
or facing redundancy. 
To create 40* new busineses 
per year with a 75% survival 
rate after 18 months. 
(*original target 30, raised to 
40 following Recession 
measures) 

 
 
£15,000 from BDC 
Further £5,000 anticipated 
from WCC 

Business Booster 
Programme 

Match-funded grant (max 
£1,000) to assist a few young, 
growing businesses. Typically 
used for IT hardware or 
software, to refurbish 
premises or for training. 

To help local businesses grow 
faster set against specific 
criteria.  
To assist 3 such businesses 
per year 

£5,500 

Rural Diversification grant Initiated during Foot & Mouth 
epidemic 

To assist farms (principally) to 
diversify and become less 
dependent on agriculture. 
To assist 3 or 4 such 
businesses 

£3,500 

Young Enterprise Competition within schools to 
introduce students to the 
concept of running a business 

To increase students 
awareness of commerce and 
foster a positive attitude 
towards the free market 
economy 

£2,000 sponsorship plus 
officer commitment to serve 
on Strategic Board 

Town Centre retailers’ 
meetings 

Quarterly meetings with 
shopkeepers. 

To maintain good relations  
To seek ways to promote 
trade in the town centre. 

Officer time 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 56



 

PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION OBJECTIVE BUDGET 
Bromsgrove High street 
Market  

General market 3 days per 
week in town centre. 15 – 20 
stalls 

Town centre regeneration. To 
create more footfall in the 
town centre. To create 
revenue for BDC (forecast at 
£80,000 pa.) 

£45,000 based on ‘official’ 
income forecast of £60,000 
(actual income 09/10 was 
£78,500) 

Bromsgrove Farmers’ 
Market 

Monthly on second Saturday. 
This has been running since 
October 2000 and is well 
established and popular high 
street event. 

Town centre regeneration 
Assist rural economy 

Income generating 
Est £3,500 

High street commercial 
Promotions 

Businesses pay a £50 per day 
charge to carry out promotions 
in the high street eg Suzuki, 
npower, The Legal 
Consultancy  

Commercial promotion. 
Generates some income for 
the council 

Income generating. Est 
£1,000Some officer time. 

North Worcestershire 
Economic Partnership 

Joint working on BSUP with 
Redditch. Shared Services 
subject to feasibility study 

Improve efficiency. Reduce 
costs. 

TBA 

Bromsgrove Business 
Exhibition  

Business day to be held in 
Bromsgrove in October 2010. 
Jointly organised by 
Bromsgrove Economic 
Development, Chamber of 
Commerce and NEW College 

To provide advice and 
networking facilities to local 
businesses (Broms & Redd)  
Topics such as IT, Tax, 
Finance Planning, Banking etc 

Approx £2,500 from 
Bromsgrove ED. Balance of 
funding from other sponsors 

P
age 57



 

 
 

P
age 58



  

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

28th April 2010 
 

 
Hot Food Takeaways SPD 

 
Responsible Portfolio Holder  Councillor Jill Dyer. 
Responsible Director John Staniland Executive Director – 

Planning, Regeneration and Housing 
Services 

Non-Key Decision   
 
1.  SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update members with progress on the Draft 

Hot Food Takeaways Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION  
 
2.1 Due to the lack of a supporting policy in the adopted Bromsgrove District 

Local Plan, and the insubstantial local evidence that Hot Food Takeaways 
are directly having an impact on the sense of community and 
well being and the environment, no further action is taken on preparing the 
Hot Food Takeaway SPD. 

  
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The topic of hot food takeaways was first considered by the Council during a 

Scrutiny Board meeting on 19th May 2009, and subsequently at the cabinet 
meeting of the 2nd December 2009 where the strategic planning team were 
asked to ‘scope the extent to which the issues identified in the 
report contribute to the negative impact on a sense of community and 
well being and the environment and how these issues can be 
addressed by the adoption of a Supplementary Planning Document on 
Hot Food Takeaways, with a report detailing the findings and the draft 
policy being submitted to the Cabinet.’ 
 

3.2 Hot food takeaways represent a popular service for local communities and 
an important complementary use in town and neighbourhood centres.  They 
can also offer important economic development and employment 
opportunities.  Nevertheless, it is recognised that hot food takeaways have 
the potential to have detrimental impacts on residential amenity and the 
environmental quality of local centres.  There is also a growing recognition 
that takeaways are dominating the local retail food offer in the District.  This 
displaces other shops and food options, limiting the choice and access to 

Agenda Item 13

Page 59



 

healthy, fresh food which in turn impacts on the health of communities in the 
District. 
 

3.3 As requested by cabinet on the 9th December the Strategic Planning Section 
liaised with the Worcestershire Primary Care Trust and West Mercia 
Constabulary as well as carrying out a thorough review of other evidence  in 
investigating the issues surrounding Hot Food Takeaways and unfortunately 
could not find compelling evidence to support polices in an SPD. 
 

3.4 Although Worcestershire PCT and government guidance “Healthy weight, 
healthy lives” stated that there are health impacts related to takeaways 
including issues of poor diet and obesity; there is no actually evidence to 
validate these claims.  Takeaways are normally high in calories, high in 
saturated fats, and high in sugar, yet there is very little documented 
evidence to prove that they alone are the reason for higher incidences of 
illnesses related to poor diet. Gillian Christian the Health Improvement 
Practitioner for Bromsgrove from Worcestershire PCT conducted both 
CINHAL and MEDLINE literature searches on the health implications of hot 
food takeaways; finding no conclusive results except for a small number of 
American studies.  The Strategic planning Section recognise there are 
health implications from eating hot food takeaways, but does not consider 
there to be justifying evidence in the case of Bromsgrove to warrant the 
production of an SPD on the subject. 
 

3.5 Further discussions were also held with PC Stan Baker, the Crime Risk 
Manager from West Mercia Constabulary.  PC Baker acknowledged that 
there was a link between hot food takeaways and crime and disorder, based 
on local police experience, however, there have been no documented 
studies to prove this link is conclusive.  A number of incidents have occurred 
where clusters of hot food takeaways are situated and the police have 
objected to such applications in the past, yet have been overruled by the 
Planning Inspectorate.  This ongoing situation would not be resolved by the 
adoption of a Hot Food Takeaways SPD as the guidance would only affect 
new establishments, and the lack of conclusive local evidence that Hot food 
Takeaways cause crime and disorder problems would mean the SPD may 
only carry little weight on appeal. 

 
 

3.6 Further to the issues above concerning the evidence to support an SPD, 
officers also carried out significant research into how other authorities have 
adopted Hot Food Takeaway SPDs in different areas of the country. The 
planning system allows Local authorities to introduce SPDs in order to add 
detail and clarity to already approved development plan policies, the system 
is also clear that SPDs should not introduce new polices which should be 
included in an up to date development plan policy. The current development 
plan for Bromsgrove is the saved policies in the Worcestershire County 
Structure Plan, and the saved policies in the Bromsgrove District Local Plan 
as well as the adopted RSS although parts of the emerging RSS maybe 
more relevant. Whilst these plans do contain some general Town Centre or 

Page 60



 

retail polices which are generally supportive of the vast majority of retail 
uses taking place in established centres, non of these plans have policies 
concerning the development of Hot Food takeaways.  

 
3.7 Recently the strategic planning team has been trying to introduce an 

Affordable Housing SPD which would supplement existing polices in the 
Bromsgrove District Local Plan, this SPD has been criticised by many 
including GOWM for introducing new polices rather than supplementing 
existing policy. Recognising the responses received on the Affordable 
Housing SPD, it is clear that the detailed policies contained in the Draft Hot 
Food takeaway SPD would be introducing new policy rather than 
supplementing existing to a greater extent than in the case of the Affordable 
housing policy as we currently have no specific policies on hot food 
takeaways. It is with this in mind that the recommendation is as at para 2.1 
above. 
 

3.8 In order test how successful a Hot Food Takeaway SPD would be officers 
prepared a draft SPD. Supplementary Planning Documents should be in 
conformity with and clearly cross-referenced to the relevant Development 
Plan policies they support. Policy S20 of the Local Plan are referred to in the 
draft SPD and cross referenced, but the links between this policy and the 
issue of Hot Food takeaways is very tenuous.   Although policy S20 seeks 
to strengthen Bromsgrove’s shopping role in order to compete more 
successfully with other shopping centres, there is no direct link to indicate 
that hot food takeaways affect this role.  This policy also fails to recognise 
hot food takeaway premises on a District-wide scale as opposed to solely in 
the town centre.  The other retail policies mentioned in the SPD, also only 
provide fragile links to hot food takeaways and in many instances would 
support further expansion of the number of Takeaways in key retail areas.   
The Strategic Planning Section deem the Draft SPD does not expand on 
existing policies and introduces new policy, which does not comply with 
national guidance. 
 

3.9 Hot Food Takeaway SPDs have been able to be produced by other Local 
Authorities as they have been linked more coherently with policies 
contained in up to date Development Plan Documents. Authorities have 
been able to use more substantial policies that are part of their Local Plans 
or Unitary Development Plans (UDPs), which directly related to hot food 
takeaways.   
 

3.10 The Hot Food Takeaway SPD produced by Waltham Forest directly 
supplemented a number of policies within the Waltham Forest UDP adopted 
in March 2006.  The UDP restricted non-retail uses forming in groups of 
three or more standard sized units, as well as restricting A5 uses within 
neighbourhood retail parades. The UDP also had a policy specific to Hot 
Food Takeaways, restaurants and Night Economy Uses, which related to 
the size of units, hours of operation, implications on traffic congestion and 
parking, impact on the character of the area and the practicality of providing 
extract ducting ventilation and/or noise insulation.  These policies allowed 

Page 61



 

Waltham Forest Borough Council to comply with PPS12 and supplement 
these policies as part of a Hot Food Takeaways SPD. 
 

3.11 This process also applied to other authorities that have produced Hot Food 
Takeaway SPDs.  Salford City Council, for example, had a number of 
policies within Salford’s UDP that was adopted in June 2006 that could be 
used as the basis for an SPD.  Policy S3 restricts the change of use from A1 
retail units, and Policy A5 restricts the number of A5 uses if they are 
deemed to have an unacceptable impact on the area.  
 

3.12 Based on the lack of evidence that Hot Food Takeaways are directly having 
an impact on the sense of community andwell being and the environment, 
and the non-compliance with Government guidance, the Strategic Planning 
Section does not consider a Hot Food Takeaways SPD to be possible at 
this stage. Should the document be taken forward it is our view that it would 
have minimal credibility due to these reasons, and would not present a 
particularly strong cases should it be used as part of a planning appeal 

 
4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The SPD would be produced by the Strategic Planning Section and 

therefore there are no external costs associated with the production of this 
document.  However, costs could occur through the appeals process if 
planning applications are refused based on the SPD.  The insubstantial 
evidence supporting the SPD and the non-compliance of national guidance 
would increase the likelihood of costs occurring.  

 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 The Hot Food Takeaways SPD cannot be produced in accordance inline 

with the provisions set out in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and as such it is recommended progress is stopped. 

 
6. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
6.1 Objective 1: Regeneration - Priorities: Town Centre 
 Through the Town Centre AAP, the Council strives to improve the range 

and quality of the retail offer in order to enhance the viability of Bromsgrove 
town as a sustainable shopping destination.  

 
 
7. RISK MANAGEMENT INCLUDING HEALTH & SAFETY 

CONSIDERATIONS 
 
7.1 The main risks associated with the details included in this report are: 
  

§  The adoption of the SPD would lead to the creation of new planning policy 
and not the supplementing existing policy as such it could be challenged 
though the appeal process. 

Page 62



 

 
7.2    These risks are being managed as follows:  

 
Risk Register: Planning and Environment  
Key Objective Ref No: 6 
Key Objective: Effective, efficient, and legally compliant Strategic 
planning Service 
  

8. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 A number of concerned residents have written to the council about this issue 

particularly in Rubery, the strategic planning team would respond to these 
letters explaining the problems with producing a hot food takeaway policy. 

 
9. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no implications for equality and diversity. 
 
10. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no implications regarding value for money. 
 
11. CLIMATE CHANGE AND CARBON IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no implications regarding Climate Change 

 
12. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
   

Procurement Issues 
 

None 

Personnel  
 

None 

Governance/Performance Management 
 

None 

Community Safety  including Section 17 
of Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 

None 

Policy 
 

SPDs cannot introduce primary 
new policy. 

Biodiversity  
 

None 

 
 
13. OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder No 
Chief Executive No 
Executive Director – Planning, Regeneration 
and Housing Services  

Yes 

Page 63



 

Executive Director – Section 51 No 
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive No 
Director of Policy Performance and 
Partnerships 

No 

Head of Planning and Regeneration No 
Head of Resources No 
Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic 
Services 

No 

Corporate Procurement Team No 
 
14. WARDS AFFECTED 
 
14.1 All Wards   
 
15. APPENDICES 
 
15.1 None 
  
16. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
16.1 None 
 
CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Name:   Adam Harvey 
E Mail:  a.harvey@bromsgrove.gov.uk 
Tel:       (01527) 881328 
 
 

Page 64



19/04/2010 

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

28 April 2010 
 

Cabinet 
 

 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN EXCEPTION REPORT [March 2010] 
 
Responsible Portfolio Holder  
 

Cllr. Roger Hollingworth, Leader of 
the Council  

Responsible Officer Hugh Bennett  
Assistant Chief Executive 

 
1.  SUMMARY 

 
1.1 To ask Cabinet to consider the Improvement Plan Exception Report for 

March 2010 (Appendix 1).   
 
2. RECOMMENDATION  
 
2.1 That Cabinet considers and approves the revisions to the Improvement 

Plan Exception Report attached as Appendix 1, and the corrective 
action being taken.  

 
2.2 That Cabinet notes that for the 85 actions highlighted for March within 

the plan 67.1% of the Improvement Plan is on target [green], 4.7% is 
one month behind [amber] and 3.5% is over one month behind [red].  
24.7% of actions have been reprogrammed or suspended with 
approval1; these include some of the Town Centre actions (due to 
delays with the AAP) and the working practices review (due to shared 
services). 

 
2.3 This month’s performance is shown on the first page of Appendix 1.   
 
3 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 July 2008 Cabinet approved the Improvement Plan 2008/09.  The 

Improvement Plan is directly linked to the four corporate priorities and 
thirteen enablers identified in the Council Plan 2009/2012. 

 
3.2 The Improvement Plan is designed to help monitor the detailed actions 

flowing from the Council Plan, which will help move the Council forward 
to excellent in the medium term. 

 
3.3 There were 4 amber and 3 red activities this month for the following 

areas of the Improvement Plan:- 

                                            
1 NB reprogrammed actions are those that have been moved to a later point in the year. 
Suspended actions are those which have been suspended completely for the period covered 
by the Plan.   

Agenda Item 14

Page 65



19/04/2010 

 
 

Ref. Council Plan Balanced Scorecard 
Reference 

Number 

CP1 Town Centre 2 
FP2 Governing the Business 1 
PR3 Joint CEO with Redditch Borough Council 1 
PR5 Planning 3 

 
3.4 The re-programmed and suspended actions Plan are:- 
 

Ref. Action  
 

Reason 

1.1.3 Town Centre AAP Suspended  
1.2.4 Design for High Street Suspended 
1.6.2 Transport multi-modal 

study 
Suspended due to delays with 
preferred option consultation 

3.3.6 Equalities monitoring Suspended 
5.4.7, 5.4.9 Budget Jury Suspended 
7.3.3 Climate Change Matrix Suspended due to changed 

approach 
9.1.3 CSC Performance reports Suspended due to suspension of 

Customer First Board 
9.2.1 Action Plan monthly 

review 
Suspended due to suspension of 
Customer First Board 

10.2.2 Code of Conduct for 
Members 

Suspended due to Government 
delays 

12.3.2 Grants Policy Suspended due to capacity 
issues 

13.2.4 RSS Phase 3 Suspended as this phase has 
been abolished 

14.1.5 Bromsgrove Way training Suspended due to revised 
approach 

14.2.7 Investors in People  Suspended due to revised 
approach 

15.2.1 Harmonisation  Suspended until 10/11 
15.3.4 Workforce Plan Suspended until 10/11 
16.1.1, 16.1.2, 
16.1.3, 16.1.5 

Working practices review Suspended due to prioritisation 
of harmonisation 

16.4.1 Employee health & 
wellbeing programme 

Suspended 

 
4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 No financial implications.  
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 No legal implications.  
 
6. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
6.1  The Improvement Plan relates to all of the Council’s objectives and 

priorities. 
 

Page 66



19/04/2010 

7. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Corporate Risk Title Improvement Plan Reference 
KO1: Effective Financial Management 
and Internal Control 

FP1 – Managing Finances 
 

KO2: Effective corporate leadership FP1 – Managing Finances 
FP2 – Governing the Business 
FP3 – Managing Resources 
FP4 – Managing Performance 
PR2 –Political Governance 

KO3: Effective  Member / Officer 
relations 

PR2 –Political Governance  
HROD1 – Learning & Development 

KO4: Effective Member / Member 
relations 

PR2 –Political Governance  
HROD1 – Learning & Development 

KO5*: Full compliance with the Civil 
Contingencies Act and effective 
Business Continuity 

PR1 – Customer Processes 

KO6: Maximising the benefits of 
investment in ICT equipment and 
training 

PR1 – Customer Processes 

KO7: Effective partnership working PR4 – Improved Partnership Working 
KO8: Effective communications 
(internal and external) 

PR1 – Customer Processes 
 

KO9: Equalities and diversity agenda 
embedded across the Authority 

CP3 – Sense of Community 
FP4 – Managing Performance 

KO10: Appropriate investment in 
employee development and training 

HROD1 – Learning & Development 
HROD2 – Modernisation 
HROD3- Positive Employee Climate 

KO11: Effective employee recruitment 
and retention 

HROD1 – Learning & Development 
HROD2 – Modernisation 
HROD3- Positive Employee Climate  

KO12: Full compliance with all Health 
and Safety legislation 

HROD3- Positive Employee Climate 

KO13: Effective two tier working and 
Community Engagement 

CP3 – Sense of Community 
PR4 – Improved Partnership Working 

KO14: Successful implementation of 
Job Evaluation 

HROD2 - Modernisation 

KO15: All Council data is accurate and 
of high quality 

FP1 – Managing Finances 
FP4 – Managing Performance 

KO16: The Council no longer in 
recovery 

FP1 – Managing Finances 
FP2 – Governing the Business 
FP3 – Managing Resources 
FP4 – Managing Performance 
PR2 –Political Governance 

KO17: Effective Projects Management FP1 – Managing Finances 
KO19: Effective Business and 
Performance Management 

FP4 – Managing Performance 
 

KO20: Effective Customer Focused 
Authority 

CP3 – Sense of Community 
PR1 – Customer Processes 

* KO5 and KO18 have been merged 

Page 67



19/04/2010 

 
8. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The Improvement Plan includes a range of actions to deliver the 

Council’s Customer First value. Please see section PR1 of the 
Improvement Plan. 

 
9. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Please see sections CP3 and FP4 of the Improvement Plan 
 
10. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT AND 

ASSET MANAGEMENT 
 
10.1 See sections FP1-FP3 of the Improvement Plan 
 
11.   CLIMATE CHANGE, CARBON IMPLICATIONS AND BIODIVERSITY 

 
11.1    See section FP3 of the Improvement Plan 
 
12. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 See sections HR&OD1-HR7OD3 of the Improvement Plan 
 
13. GOVERNANCE/PREFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 See sections FP4 and PR2 of the Improvement Plan 

 
14. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS INCLUDING SECTION 17 OF 

THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
 
14.1    See section CP3 of the Improvement Plan 
  
15.  OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

No 

Chief Executive 
 

At CMT 

Executive Director (S151 Officer) 
 

At CMT 

Executive Director – Leisure, Cultural, Environmental 
and Community Services 
 

At CMT 

Executive Director – Planning & Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing Services  
 

At CMT 

Director of Policy, Performance and Partnerships 
 

Yes 

Head of Service At CMT 

Page 68



19/04/2010 

Head of Resources  
 

At CMT 

Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic Services 
 

At CMT 

Corporate Procurement Team 
 

No 

 
16.  WARDS AFFECTED 
 
16.1 All wards. 
 
17.   APPENDICES 

 
17.1  Appendix 1 Improvement Plan Exception Report March 2010. 
 
 
15.     BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
 
15.1 The full Improvement Plan for March can be found at 

www.bromsgrove.gov.uk under meetings Minutes and Agendas. A 
hard copy is also left in the Members’ Room each month. 
 

 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 

 
Name:   Rebecca Dunne  
E Mail:  r.dunne@bromsgrove.gov.uk 
Tel:       (01527) 881616 

Page 69



Exception Report for March 2010 Improvement Plan                                     Appendix 1 

Last Updated on 19/04/2010 08:55 
 

6 

 
PROGRESS IN 2009/10 
 
Overall performance as at the end of March 2010, in comparison with the previous year, is as follows: -  

 

 

 

July 2008 August 2008 September 2008 October 2008 November 2008 December 2008 
RED 11 8.6% RED 17 14.4% RED 16 11.9% RED 15 10.6% RED 12 8.7% RED 13 9.9% 
AMBER 3 2.3% AMBER 4 3.4% AMBER 8 6.0% AMBER 7 5.0% AMBER 8 5.8% AMBER 5 3.9% 
GREEN 114 89.1% GREEN 96 81.4% GREEN 99 73.9% GREEN 104 73.8% GREEN 106 76.8% GREEN 100 76.3% 
REPRO 0 0% REPRO 1 0.8% REPRO* 11 8.2% REPRO 15 10.6% REPRO 12 8.7% REPRO 13 9.9% 

January 2009 February 2009 March 2009 April 2009 May 2009 June 2009 
RED 0 0% RED 2 1.5% RED 3 2.9% RED 3 3.2% RED 3 3.85% RED 1 1.2% 
AMBER 4 3.6% AMBER 3 2.3% AMBER 5 4.9% AMBER 5 5.4% AMBER 3 3.85% AMBER 0 0% 
GREEN 95 86.4% GREEN 112 86.2% GREEN 80 78.5% GREEN 71 76.3% GREEN 60 76.9% GREEN 70 82.3% 
REPRO 11 10.0% REPRO 13 10.0% REPRO 14 13.7% REPRO 14 15.1% REPRO 12 15.4% REPRO 14 16.5% 

July 2009 August 2009 September 2009 October 2009 November 2009 December 2009 
RED 0 0% RED 0 0% RED 4 3.8% RED 2 2.1% RED 2 2.1% RED 4 4.3% 
AMBER 11 13.3% AMBER 6 8.5% AMBER 9 8.7% AMBER 9 9.6% AMBER 5 5.3% AMBER 5 5.4% 
GREEN 67 80.7% GREEN 60 84.5% GREEN 79 76% GREEN 70 74.5% GREEN 71 74.7% GREEN 70 75.3% 
REPRO 0 0% REPRO 0 0% REPRO 0 0% REPRO 0 0% REPRO 3 3.2% REPRO 1 1.1% 
SUSP 5 6% SUSP 5 7% SUSP 12 11.5% SUSP 13 13.8% SUSP 14 14.7% SUSP 13 13.9% 

January 2010 February 2010 March 2010 April 2010 May 2010 June 2010 
RED 6 7.2% RED 4 5.2% RED 3 3.5% RED   RED   RED   
AMBER 3 3.6% AMBER 4 5.2% AMBER 4 4.7% AMBER   AMBER   AMBER   
GREEN 64 77.1% GREEN 51 66.2% GREEN 57 67.1% GREEN   GREEN   GREEN   
REPRO 0 0% REPRO 0 0% REPRO 0 0% REPRO   REPRO   REPRO   
SUSP 10 12.1% SUSP 18 23.4% SUSP 21 24.7% SUSP   SUSP   SUSP   

P
age 70



Exception Report for March 2010 Improvement Plan                                     Appendix 1 

Last Updated on 19/04/2010 08:55 
 

7 

Where: - 
 
 On Target 

or 
completed 

 One month 
behind 
target or 
less 

 Over one 
month 
behind 
target 

 Original 
date of 
planned 
action 

 Re-
programmed 
date.* 

 Suspended** 

* NB. Reprogrammed actions are those that have been moved to a later point in the year.  They are not actions that have been extended and 
they do not appear on the exception report once they have received approval. 
**NB. Suspended actions are those that have been suspended completely for the period covered by the Improvement Plan 
 
An Exception Report detailing corrective actions follows: 
 
 

P
age 71



Exception Report for March 2010 Improvement Plan                                     Appendix 1 

Last Updated on 19/04/2010 08:55 
 

8 

 

1.1.1 Engage specialist 
organisation to complete 
unified vision 

JS             The listing of Parkside has delayed the 
resumption of the work on the AAP and 
the preferred option. However, it would 
appear that the police and fire service 
have now secured an alternative site and 
are awaiting the outcome of a HMIC 
report and a final decision from the 
Police Committee before commencing 
work on the building although there is 
sufficient money to secure the site. It is 
anticipated that work will recommence on 
the AAP early 2010. The unified vision 
will be completed by April with the AAP 
itself being completed by June 2010. 
However, it is not likely to receive official 
approval until April 2011. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CP1: Town Centre 
Ref  March 2010 Action Colour  Corrective Action  Who  Original 

Date 
 

Revised 
Date 

1.1.1 Engage specialist organisation to 
complete unified vision 

 Work will recommence on the AAP early 2010. JS Mar 10 Apr 10 

Ref. Action Lead 

Ju
ly
 

A
u
g
. 

S
ep
. 

O
ct
. 

N
o
v.
 

D
ec
. 

Ja
n
. 

F
eb
. 

M
ar
. 

A
p
r.
 

M
ay
 

Ju
n
e Corrective Action 

1.1 Agreement on preferred option of Area Action Plan 

P
age 72



Exception Report for March 2010 Improvement Plan                                     Appendix 1 

Last Updated on 19/04/2010 08:55 
 

9 

1.5.4 Work on site commences JS             Work cannot start until the design and 
funding issues can be resolved. 
Executive Director Planning and 
Regeneration attended a meeting with 
Network Rail on 24 March where a 
funding gap has reappeared. 

 

6.3.9 Provide training to Audit 
Board on Internal Control 
and Risk Management 
Issues 

JLP             Due to amount of areas to be considered 
as part of final accounts training was 
delayed- to be re-evaluated as part of 
WETT. 

 

CP1: Town Centre 
Ref  March 2010 Action Colour  Corrective Action  Who  Original 

Date 
 

Revised 
Date 

1.5.4 Work on site commences  Work cannot start until the design and funding issues can 
be resolved. Executive Director Planning and 
Regeneration attended a meeting with Network Rail on 24 
March where a funding gap has reappeared. 

JS Mar 10 TBC 

Ref. Action Lead 

Ju
ly
 

A
u
g
. 

S
ep
. 

O
ct
. 

N
o
v.
 

D
ec
. 

Ja
n
. 

F
eb
. 

M
ar
. 

A
p
r.
 

M
ay
 

Ju
n
e Corrective Action 

1.5 Train Station 

FP2: Governing the Business (including Value for Money) 
Ref  March 2010 Action Colour  Corrective Action  Who  Original 

Date 
 

Revised 
Date 

6.3.9 Provide training to Audit Board on 
Internal Control and Risk 
Management Issues 

 Due to amount of areas to be considered as part of final 
accounts training was delayed- to be re-evaluated as part 
of WETT. 

JLP Mar 10 TBC 

Ref. Action Lead 

Ju
ly
 

A
u
g
. 

S
ep
. 

O
ct
. 

N
o
v.
 

D
ec
. 

Ja
n
. 

F
eb
. 

M
ar
. 

A
p
r.
 

M
ay
 

Ju
n
e Corrective Action 

6.3 Effective risk management 

P
age 73



Exception Report for March 2010 Improvement Plan                                     Appendix 1 

Last Updated on 19/04/2010 08:55 
 

10 

11.1.1 Business cases submitted 
to Full Council 

KD             Business cases agreed for IT and CCTV 
/ Lifeline. Economic Development 
business case delayed due to issues of 
capacity at Wyre Forest – delivered in 
accordance with revised timeline of 
March – shared services proposals for 
Wyre Forest to host a Shared Service – 
to be considered by Shared Services 
Board in April. 

 
 

PR3: Joint CEO with Redditch Borough Council 
Ref  March 2010 Action Colour  Corrective Action  Who  Original 

Date 
 

Revised 
Date 

11.1.1 Business cases submitted to Full 
Council 

 Economic Development business case delivered in 
accordance with revised timeline of March – shared 
services proposals for Wyre Forest to host a Shared 
Service – to be considered by Shared Services Board in 
April. 

KD Mar 10 Apr 10 

Ref. Action Lead 

Ju
ly
 

A
u
g
. 

S
ep
. 

O
ct
. 

N
o
v.
 

D
ec
. 

Ja
n
. 

F
eb
. 

M
ar
. 

A
p
r.
 

M
ay
 

Ju
n
e Corrective Action 

11.1 Medium wins 

P
age 74



Exception Report for March 2010 Improvement Plan                                     Appendix 1 

Last Updated on 19/04/2010 08:55 
 

11 

13.1.1 Attend Project Delivery 
Board Meetings 

             Board meetings have been suspended 
whilst planning appeal was taking place. 
Due to St Modwen’s conduct in applying 
for costs through the planning appeal all 
strategic meeting between BCC BDC 
WCC and St Modwen have been 
cancelled whilst the city takes legal 
advice. 

 
 
 

PR5: Planning 
Ref  March 2010 Action Colour  Corrective Action  Who  Original 

Date 
 

Revised 
Date 

13.1.1 Attend Project Delivery Board 
Meetings 

 Board meetings have been suspended whilst planning 
appeal was taking place. Due to St Modwen’s conduct in 
applying for costs through the planning appeal all strategic 
meeting between BCC BDC WCC and St Modwen have 
been cancelled whilst the city takes legal advice. 

 Mar 10 TBC 

Ref. Action Lead 

Ju
ly
 

A
u
g
. 

S
ep
. 

O
ct
. 

N
o
v.
 

D
ec
. 

Ja
n
. 

F
eb
. 

M
ar
. 

A
p
r.
 

M
ay
 

Ju
n
e Corrective Action 

13.1 Longbridge 

P
age 75



Exception Report for March 2010 Improvement Plan                                     Appendix 1 

Last Updated on 19/04/2010 08:55 
 

12 

13.2.3 Receive and respond to 
RSS2 Proposed Changes 

MD             Phase 2 proposed changes still being 
delayed as CLG take legal advice, 
GOWM have confirmed they hope to 
publish the changes before the end of 
July; this is obviously subject to the 
outcome of the election. 

 

13.4.3 Quarterly Member Planning 
training 

             A number of training exercises took 
place in December; trying to arrange 
potential heritage update training for 
Members. 

 

PR5: Planning 
Ref  March 2010 Action Colour  Corrective Action  Who  Original 

Date 
 

Revised 
Date 

13.2.3 Receive and respond to RSS2 
Proposed Changes 

 Phase 2 proposed changes still being delayed as CLG 
take legal advice, GOWM have confirmed they hope to 
publish the changes before the end of July; this is 
obviously subject to the outcome of the election. 

MD Mar 10 Jul 10 

Ref. Action Lead 

Ju
ly
 

A
u
g
. 

S
ep
. 

O
ct
. 

N
o
v.
 

D
ec
. 

Ja
n
. 

F
eb
. 

M
ar
. 

A
p
r.
 

M
ay
 

Ju
n
e Corrective Action 

13.2 Regional Spatial Strategy 

PR5: Planning 
Ref  March 2010 Action Colour  Corrective Action  Who  Original 

Date 
 

Revised 
Date 

13.4.3 Quarterly Member Planning training  A number of training exercises took place in December; 
trying to arrange potential heritage update training for 
Members. 

 Mar 10 TBC 

Ref. Action Lead 

Ju
ly
 

A
u
g
. 

S
ep
. 

O
ct
. 

N
o
v.
 

D
ec
. 

Ja
n
. 

F
eb
. 

M
ar
. 

A
p
r.
 

M
ay
 

Ju
n
e Corrective Action 

13.4 Effective Development Control Service 

P
age 76



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
CABINET  28 APRIL 2010  

 

 

MARCH (PERIOD 12) PERFORMANCE REPORTING 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Cllr Roger Hollingworth 
Relevant Head of Service Hugh Bennett, Assistant Chief 

Executive 
Non-Key Decision  
 
1.  SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 To report to Cabinet on the Council’s performance at 31 March 2010 (period 

12). 
  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 That Cabinet notes that 49% of PIs are stable or improving.  
 
2.2  That Cabinet notes that 69% of PI’s that have met or are projected to 

meet their target at the year end (compared to 78% in 2008/09)  
 
2.3 That Cabinet notes the performance figures for March 2010 as set out in 

Appendix 2.  
 
2.4 That Cabinet notes the particular areas of improvement as summarised in 

section 4.2. 
 
2.5 That Cabinet notes the PI’s of particular concern as set out in section 4.3. 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The full list of performance indicators due to be reported monthly is set out in 

Appendix 2 where:-  
 

 On Target  I Performance is Improving 
 Less than 10% from target  S Performance is Stable 
 More than 10% from target  W Performance is Worsening 
 No target set  N/a No target set 

 
3.2  Comparisons of overall performance improvements this month to last month 

are shown on Appendix 1. 
 
3.3  At the beginning of the year the set of corporately reported PI’s was revised 

to ensure they reflect current priorities and also to take account of the revised 
assessment methodology that the Council will be judged on under CAA.   This 
is the final performance report for 2009/10, it is in the monthly report format 

Agenda Item 15

Page 77



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
CABINET  28 APRIL 2010  

 

 

rather than the integrated finance & performance report format used at other 
quarter ends.  This is because the final accounts are still being prepared and 
will be presented to the special Council meeting in June, along with the 
Annual Report. 

  
4. KEY ISSUES 
 
4.1 The proportion of PI’s that are improving or stable is lower than usual, at  
      48%, however the decline, in a number of cases, is small and, in some cases, 
      seasonal. 
 
4.2 Performance worthy of particular mention is as follows: 
 

• All ‘Streetscene’ PI’s have, or are expected to, meet their annual target. 
• All bar one of the Crime PI annual targets have been met. 
• All Planning PI annual targets have been met. 
• Annual targets for Affordable housing and Households in Temporary 

Accommodation were met.  
• Time to process benefit claims has reduced to just over 9 days, 

considerably better than target. 
• Although the target was missed (but by less than 10%), sickness 

absence reduced by 15% compared to last year. 
 

4.3 Performance of potential concern is as follows: 
 

• Dolphin centre usage was somewhat below annual target, however the 
target figures for membership of the new gym were exceeded. 
Management of the Dolphin Centre is transferring to the leisure trust. 

• Targets for Disabled Facilities Grants were not met, however this was 
mainly as a consequence of the reduced budget availability which meant 
that schemes put forward in the second half of the year had to be put on 
hold, thus adversely affecting the performance figures.  Responsibility for 
DFG’s is transferring to the Housing Improvement Agency during 2010. 

• NI 179 – cash releasing VFM gains target was not met, however the 
Council has a clear and substantial programme of VFM savings through 
the shared services and WETT agendas. 

 
 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 None 

 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Page 78



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
CABINET  28 APRIL 2010  

 

 

 
6.1 None 
 
7. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 None 
 
8. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 Performance reporting & management links to the Improvement objective 
  
9. RISK MANAGEMENT INCLUDING HEALTH & SAFETY 

CONSIDERATIONS 
  
9.1The main risks associated with the details included in this report are: 

 
•  Data quality problems  
•  Poor performance 
 

9.2 These risks are being managed as follows:  
 
•  Implementation of the Data Quality Strategy 
•   Robust follow up on performance issues, including performance clinics 

 
9.3 There are no Health & Safety considerations 
 
10. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Performance Improvement is a Council Objective 
 
11. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None. 
 
12. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT AND ASSET 

MANAGEMENT 
 
12.1 None   
 
13. CLIMATE CHANGE, CARBON IMPLICATIONS AND BIODIVERSITY 
 
13.1  None 
 
14. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

Page 79



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
CABINET  28 APRIL 2010  

 

 

  
14.1 None 
 
15. GOVERNANCE/PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
  
15.1 Sound performance management and data quality are key to achieving 

improved scores in the Use of resources judgement.  This performance 
report supports that aim. 

 
16. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS INCLUDING SECTION 17 OF 

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
  
16.1 None 
 
17. HEALTH INEQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
  
17.1 None 
 
18. LESSONS LEARNT 
 
18.1   
 
19. COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
19.1  None 
 
 
 
20. OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

No  

Chief Executive 
 

No (due to timing of  
Meetings, will go to 
CMT) 

Executive Director (S151 Officer) 
 

No (due to timing of  
Meetings, will go to 
CMT) 

Executive Director – Leisure, Cultural, 
Environmental and Community Services 
 

No (due to timing of  
Meetings, will go to 
CMT) 

Executive Director – Planning & Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing Services  
 

No (due to timing of  
Meetings, will go to 
CMT) 

Page 80



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
CABINET  28 APRIL 2010  

 

 

Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships 
 

Yes 

Head of Service 
 

Yes 

Head of Resources  
  

No (due to timing of  
Meetings, will go to 
CMT) 

Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic 
Services 
 

No (due to timing of  
Meetings, will go to 
CMT) 
 

Corporate Procurement Team 
 

No 

 
21. WARDS AFFECTED 
 
 All 
  
22. APPENDICES 
  
Appendix 1  Performance Summary for the period  
Appendix 2    Detail Performance report for the period  
Appendix 3   Detailed figures to support the performance report 
 
 
23. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

None  
 

24. KEY 
 
PI     -  Performance Indicator  
NI     -  National Indicator ( a PI defined by government and used by all Councils) 
LPI   -  Local Performance Indicator – (a PI defined by Bromsgrove, District  
            Council to measure performance on local priorities)  
CAA -  Corporate Area Assessment – the methodology used by the Audit    
   Commission to judge the performance of Councils and partners 
  
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: John Outhwaite, Senior Policy & Performance Officer 
email: j.outhwaite@bromsgrove.gov.uk 

Page 81



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
CABINET  28 APRIL 2010  

 

 

Tel: (01527) 881602 

 

Page 82



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 1

 

N
o.

%
ag

e3
N

o.
%

ag
e3

N
o.

%
ag

e3

Im
p

ro
vi

ng
 o

r 
st

ab
le

.
15

47
%

O
n 

ta
rg

et
22

76
%

O
n 

ta
rg

et
27

90
%

D
ec

lin
in

g
17

53
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

le
ss

 t
ha

n 
10

%
6

21
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

le
ss

 t
ha

n 
10

%
2

7%
N

o
 d

at
a 

3
M

is
si

ng
 t

ar
g

et
 b

y 
m

o
re

 t
ha

n 
10

%
1

3%
M

is
si

ng
 t

ar
g

et
 b

y 
m

o
re

 t
ha

n 
10

%
1

3%
N

o
 d

at
a2 

6
N

o
 d

at
a2 

5

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

hi
s 

p
er

io
d

1
35

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

hi
s 

p
er

io
d

1
35

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 r

ep
o

rt
ed

 
th

is
 p

er
io

d
1

35

N
o.

%
ag

e3
N

o.
%

ag
e3

N
o.

%
ag

e3

Im
p

ro
vi

ng
 o

r 
st

ab
le

.
24

47
%

O
n 

ta
rg

et
28

61
%

O
n 

ta
rg

et
36

78
%

D
ec

lin
in

g
27

53
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

le
ss

 t
ha

n 
10

%
10

22
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

le
ss

 t
ha

n 
10

%
4

9%
N

o
 d

at
a 

7
M

is
si

ng
 t

ar
g

et
 b

y 
m

o
re

 t
ha

n 
10

%
8

17
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

m
o

re
 t

ha
n 

10
%

6
13

%
N

o
 d

at
a2 

12
N

o
 d

at
a2 

12

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

hi
s 

p
er

io
d

1
58

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

hi
s 

p
er

io
d

1
58

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 r

ep
o

rt
ed

 
th

is
 p

er
io

d
1

58

N
o.

%
ag

e3
N

o.
%

ag
e3

N
o.

%
ag

e3

Im
p

ro
vi

ng
 o

r 
st

ab
le

.
11

37
%

O
n 

ta
rg

et
17

65
%

O
n 

ta
rg

et
23

85
%

D
ec

lin
in

g
19

63
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

le
ss

 t
ha

n 
10

%
7

27
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

le
ss

 t
ha

n 
10

%
3

11
%

N
o

 d
at

a 
5

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

m
o

re
 t

ha
n 

10
%

2
8%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

m
o

re
 t

ha
n 

10
%

1
4%

N
o

 d
at

a2 
9

N
o

 d
at

a2 
8

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

hi
s 

p
er

io
d

1
35

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

hi
s 

p
er

io
d

1
35

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 r

ep
o

rt
ed

 
th

is
 p

er
io

d
1

35

N
o.

%
ag

e3
N

o.
%

ag
e3

N
o.

%
ag

e3

Im
p

ro
vi

ng
 o

r 
st

ab
le

.
19

63
%

O
n 

ta
rg

et
18

60
%

O
n 

ta
rg

et
24

80
%

D
ec

lin
in

g
11

37
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

le
ss

 t
ha

n 
10

%
10

33
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

le
ss

 t
ha

n 
10

%
4

13
%

N
o

 d
at

a 
5

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

m
o

re
 t

ha
n 

10
%

2
7%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

m
o

re
 t

ha
n 

10
%

2
7%

N
o

 d
at

a2 
5

N
o

 d
at

a2 
5

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

hi
s 

p
er

io
d

1
35

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

hi
s 

p
er

io
d

1
35

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 r

ep
o

rt
ed

 
th

is
 p

er
io

d
1

35

N
o.

%
ag

e3
N

o.
%

ag
e3

N
o.

%
ag

e3

Im
p

ro
vi

ng
 o

r 
st

ab
le

.
21

49
%

O
n 

ta
rg

et
25

61
%

O
n 

ta
rg

et
31

69
%

D
ec

lin
in

g
22

51
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

le
ss

 t
ha

n 
10

%
9

22
%

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

le
ss

 t
ha

n 
10

%
8

18
%

N
o

 d
at

a 
13

M
is

si
ng

 t
ar

g
et

 b
y 

m
o

re
 t

ha
n 

10
%

7
17

%
M

is
si

ng
 t

ar
g

et
 b

y 
m

o
re

 t
ha

n 
10

%
6

13
%

N
o

 d
at

a2 
15

N
o

 d
at

a2 
13

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

hi
s 

p
er

io
d

1
56

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 

re
p

o
rt

ed
 t

hi
s 

p
er

io
d

1
56

T
o

ta
l N

um
b

er
 o

f 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
 r

ep
o

rt
ed

 
th

is
 p

er
io

d
1

58

N
ot

es
1 

- 
T

hi
s 

fig
ur

e 
sh

ow
s 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
um

be
r 

of
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 r
ep

or
te

d 
in

 A
pp

en
di

x 
2 

fo
r 

th
is

 p
er

io
d.

  T
hi

s 
w

ill
 v

ar
y 

as
 s

om
e 

in
di

ca
to

rs
 a

re
 r

ep
or

te
d 

m
on

th
ly

, 
   

  s
om

e 
qu

ar
te

rly
, s

om
e 

an
nu

al
ly

 (
bu

t i
n 

di
ff

er
en

t p
er

io
ds

 -
 d

ep
en

di
ng

 o
n 

w
he

n 
th

ey
 b

ec
om

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e)

.
2 

- 
S

om
e 

of
 th

e 
in

di
ca

to
rs

 d
o 

no
t h

av
e 

al
l t

he
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 e

le
m

en
ts

, f
or

 in
st

an
ce

 s
om

e 
do

 n
ot

 h
av

e 
ta

rg
et

s 
be

ca
us

e 
th

ey
 a

re
 n

ew
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 th
is

 y
ea

r,
 o

th
er

s 
   

 a
re

 a
ct

iv
ity

 m
ea

su
re

s 
(e

.g
. m

on
th

ly
 c

al
l v

ol
um

e)
.  

T
he

se
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 w
ill

 b
e 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

e 
'n

o 
da

ta
' c

ou
nt

 w
he

re
 c

om
pa

ris
on

s 
ca

nn
ot

 b
e 

m
ad

e.
3 

- 
T

he
 p

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
fig

ur
e 

sh
ow

n 
is

 th
e 

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f t
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 fo
r 

w
hi

ch
 r

el
ev

an
t d

at
a 

is
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

th
is

 p
er

io
d,

 n
ot

 
   

  t
he

 to
ta

l n
um

be
r 

of
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 r
ep

or
te

d 
th

is
 p

er
io

d.

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 -

 P
er

io
d

 1
2 

(M
ar

ch
) 

20
09

/1
0 

M
o

nt
hl

y 
(M

ar
ch

) 
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
E

st
im

at
ed

 O
ut

tu
rn

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 -

 P
er

io
d

 1
1 

(F
eb

ru
ar

y)
 2

00
9/

10
 

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 -

 P
er

io
d

 8
 (

N
o

ve
m

b
er

) 
20

09
/1

0 
M

o
nt

hl
y 

(N
o

ve
m

b
er

) 
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
E

st
im

at
ed

 O
ut

tu
rn

M
o

nt
hl

y 
(J

an
ua

ry
) 

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

E
st

im
at

ed
 O

ut
tu

rn
S

U
M

M
A

R
Y

 -
 P

er
io

d
 1

0 
(J

an
ua

ry
 2

01
0)

 

M
o

nt
hl

y 
(D

ec
em

b
er

) 
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
E

st
im

at
ed

 O
ut

tu
rn

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 -

 P
er

io
d

 9
/Q

ua
rt

er
 3

 (
D

ec
em

b
er

) 
20

09
/1

0 

M
o

nt
hl

y 
(F

eb
ru

ar
y)

  p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

E
st

im
at

ed
 O

ut
tu

rn

Appendix

Page 83



Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank



 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 In
d

ic
at

o
rs

 P
er

io
d

 1
2 

(M
ar

ch
 2

01
0)

 

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
R

ep
o

rt
 -

ed
?

�
��

��
��

��
	


�
�


�
�	

��
D

ec
 T

ar
g

et
D

ec
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

Ja
n

 T
ar

g
et

Ja
n

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
F

eb
 T

ar
g

et
F

eb
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

M
ar

 T
ar

g
et

M
ar

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
T

ar
g

et
 O

u
tt

u
rn

O
u

tt
u

rn
 

T
ar

g
et

 
&

T
re

n
d

C
o

m
m

en
ts

S
tr

ee
t 

S
ce

n
e 

&
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 

N
I 1

91
R

es
id

ua
l H

ou
se

ho
ld

 w
as

te
 p

er
 

ho
us

eh
ol

d 
(K

G
)

M
C

58
6.

26
44

7.
82

44
3.

22
W

49
7.

14
48

9.
75

I
54

2.
88

53
6.

50
W

59
2.

99
58

9.
95

W
59

0.
00

58
2 

(e
st

)

N
o 

T
on

na
ge

s 
da

ta
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

as
 y

et
 fo

r 
Ja

n 
- 

M
ar

, w
he

n 
th

is
 is

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
th

is
 is

 
an

tic
ip

at
ed

 to
 r

ed
uc

e 
N

I1
91

 fu
rt

he
r 

to
 

ap
pr

ox
 5

82
kg

 

N
I 1

92
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
 w

as
te

 r
e-

us
ed

, r
ec

yc
le

d 
an

d 
co

m
po

st
ed

M
C

43
.2

5
24

.3
2

39
.4

3
W

30
.2

7
38

.3
9

I
26

.9
6

37
.6

0
I

33
.1

7
37

.1
4

I
30

.0
0

37
.2

8 
(e

st
)

N
ot

 a
ll 

to
nn

ag
es

 a
re

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
as

 y
et

 fo
r 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
ba

nk
s,

 w
he

n 
re

ce
iv

ed
 it

 is
 

an
tic

ip
at

ed
 th

is
 w

ill
 in

cr
ea

se
 N

I1
92

 to
 

ap
pr

ox
 3

7.
28

%

N
I 1

95
Im

pr
ov

ed
 s

tr
ee

t &
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

cl
ea

nl
in

es
s 

- 
gr

af
fit

i
M

*
C

5
1

S
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
5

5
5 

(e
st

)
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

un
til

 2
2n

d 
A

pr
il

N
I 1

95
Im

pr
ov

ed
 s

tr
ee

t &
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

cl
ea

nl
in

es
s 

-li
tte

r
M

*
C

13
9

W
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
13

13
13

 (
es

t)
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

un
til

 2
2n

d 
A

pr
il

N
I 1

95
Im

pr
ov

ed
 s

tr
ee

t &
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

cl
ea

nl
in

es
s 

- 
de

tr
itu

s
M

*
C

20
23

W
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
20

20
20

 (
es

t)
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

un
til

 2
2n

d 
A

pr
il

N
I 1

95
Im

pr
ov

ed
 s

tr
ee

t &
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

cl
ea

nl
in

es
s 

- 
fly

 p
os

tin
g

M
*

C
1

1
W

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

1
1

1(
es

t)
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

un
til

 2
2n

d 
A

pr
il

N
I 1

96
Im

pr
ov

ed
 s

tr
ee

t a
nd

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l 
cl

ea
nl

in
es

s 
 -

 fl
y 

tip
pi

ng
M

*
C

2
2

S
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
2

2
2 

(e
st

)
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

un
til

 2
8t

h 
A

pr
il

LP
I D

ep
ot

N
um

be
r 

of
 m

is
se

d 
ho

us
eh

ol
d 

w
as

te
 

co
lle

ct
io

ns
M

C
1,

13
6

85
5

75
1

I
95

0
82

5
W

1,
04

5
86

3
I

1,
14

0
95

2
W

1,
14

0
95

2
89

 m
is

se
d 

co
lle

ct
io

ns
 o

f w
hi

ch
 5

6 
w

er
e 

gr
ey

 a
nd

 3
3 

w
er

e 
br

ow
n 

bi
ns

 =
 0

.0
46

%

LP
I D

ep
ot

N
um

be
r 

of
 m

is
se

d 
re

cy
cl

e 
w

as
te

 
co

lle
ct

io
ns

M
C

28
1

18
0

18
4

I
20

0
20

2
W

22
0

22
3

W
24

0
23

7
I

24
0

23
7

14
 m

is
se

d 
re

cy
cl

in
g 

co
lle

ct
io

ns
 =

  0
.0

07
%

N
W

B
C

U
5

T
ot

al
 C

rim
e

M
C

N
ew

4,
21

0
3,

84
8

I
4,

68
5

4,
27

7
W

5,
11

3
4,

69
1

I
5,

58
8

5,
18

7
W

5,
58

8
5,

18
7

O
ve

ra
ll 

to
ta

l c
rim

e 
ha

s 
be

en
 r

ed
uc

ed
 b

y 
7%

 th
is

 y
ea

r 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 la

st
, w

hi
ch

 is
 

40
1 

le
ss

 o
ffe

nc
es

.  
T

hi
s 

is
 a

 r
es

ul
t o

f j
oi

nt
 

ef
fo

rt
s 

be
tw

ee
n 

al
l a

ge
nc

ie
s 

co
or

di
na

te
d 

un
de

r 
th

e 
C

om
m

un
ity

 S
af

et
y 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

.  
T

he
re

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
re

du
ct

io
ns

 in
 m

os
t c

rim
e 

ty
pe

s 
ap

ar
t f

ro
m

 V
io

le
nt

 C
rim

e.
  

B
ro

m
sg

ro
ve

 C
S

P
 a

re
 n

ow
 d

ev
el

op
in

g 
de

liv
er

y 
pl

an
s 

ag
ai

ns
t t

he
ir 

20
10

/1
1 

pr
io

rit
ie

s 
(Y

ou
th

 R
el

at
ed

 A
S

B
, V

io
le

nt
 

C
rim

e,
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l C

rim
e 

an
d 

A
cq

ui
si

tiv
e 

C
rim

e)
.  

In
 a

dd
iti

on
 th

e 
C

S
P

 
w

ill
 a

ls
o 

be
 d

ev
el

op
in

g 
pl

an
s 

to
 ta

ck
le

 r
e-

of
fe

nd
in

g 
as

 a
 r

es
ul

t o
f n

ew
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s,
 s

tr
at

eg
ie

s 
to

 d
ea

l w
ith

 
A

S
B

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
a 

se
t o

f m
in

im
um

 s
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

an
d 

a 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
st

ra
te

gy
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

ap
po

in
tm

en
t o

f a
 c

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 

of
fic

er
. 

��
��

��
�

20
09

/1
0

1

Page 85



R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
R

ep
o

rt
 -

ed
?

�
��

��
��

��
	


�
�


�
�	

��
D

ec
 T

ar
g

et
D

ec
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

Ja
n

 T
ar

g
et

Ja
n

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
F

eb
 T

ar
g

et
F

eb
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

M
ar

 T
ar

g
et

M
ar

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
T

ar
g

et
 O

u
tt

u
rn

O
u

tt
u

rn
 

T
ar

g
et

 
&

T
re

n
d

C
o

m
m

en
ts

��
��

��
�

20
09

/1
0

N
W

B
C

U
1

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 d

om
es

tic
 b

ur
gl

ar
ie

s 
M

C
43

8
29

3
19

4
W

32
6

23
3

W
35

6
27

6
W

38
9

32
1

W
38

9
32

1

T
he

re
 w

er
e 

45
 o

ffe
nc

es
 o

f d
om

es
tic

 
bu

rg
la

ry
 in

 M
ar

ch
, w

hi
ch

 is
 a

bo
ve

 th
e 

M
ar

ch
 ta

rg
et

 o
f 3

3 
ho

w
ev

er
 th

er
e 

is
 a

 
se

as
on

al
 tr

en
d 

fo
r 

bu
rg

la
ry

 w
hi

ch
 p

ea
ks

 
ov

er
 th

e 
ea

rly
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 y
ea

r.
  T

he
re

 h
as

 
ho

w
ev

er
 b

ee
n 

a 
17

%
 d

ec
re

as
e 

in
 

of
fe

nc
es

 th
is

 y
ea

r 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 th

e 
pr

ev
io

us
 y

ea
rs

.  
A

lth
ou

gh
 b

ur
gl

ar
y 

ha
s 

be
en

 r
ed

uc
ed

 y
ea

r 
on

 y
ea

r 
th

e 
B

ro
m

sg
ro

ve
 C

om
m

un
ity

 S
af

et
y 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
ill

 b
e 

m
ak

in
g 

it 
a 

20
10

/1
1 

pr
io

rit
y 

as
 th

ey
 h

av
e 

ac
kn

ow
le

dg
ed

 
th

ro
ug

h 
su

rv
ey

s 
th

at
 it

 s
til

l r
em

ai
ns

 o
n 

of
 

th
e 

la
rg

es
t c

on
ce

rn
s 

fo
r 

ou
r 

re
si

de
nt

s.
  A

 
bu

rg
la

ry
 a

ct
io

n 
pl

an
 w

ill
 b

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

an
d 

de
liv

er
ed

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

co
m

in
g 

ye
ar

.

N
W

B
C

U
2

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 v

io
le

nt
 c

rim
es

M
C

97
3

71
4

76
7

W
78

4
87

0
W

84
6

95
2

I
92

2
1,

04
6

W
92

2
1,

04
6

T
he

 v
ol

um
e 

of
 V

io
le

nt
 C

rim
e 

ha
s 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
ag

ai
n 

in
 M

ar
ch

 a
nd

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
co

ns
is

te
nt

ly
 h

ig
h 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
ye

ar
.  

A
s 

a 
re

su
lt 

V
io

le
nt

 C
rim

e 
ha

s 
be

en
 m

ad
e 

a 
C

om
m

un
ity

 S
af

et
y 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 p
rio

rit
y 

fo
r 

20
10

/1
1.

  T
he

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
ill

 b
e 

de
ve

lo
pi

ng
 a

 v
io

le
nt

 c
rim

e 
ac

tio
n 

pl
an

 to
 

ta
ck

le
 tw

o 
di

st
in

ct
 v

io
le

nt
 c

rim
e 

pr
ob

le
m

s:
 

A
ss

au
lt 

w
ith

 le
ss

 s
er

io
us

 in
ju

ry
 a

s 
a 

re
su

lt 
of

 a
lc

oh
ol

 fu
el

le
d 

vi
ol

en
ce

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
ni

gh
t 

tim
e 

ec
on

om
y 

an
d 

do
m

es
tic

 r
el

at
ed

 
vi

ol
en

ce
.

N
W

B
C

U
3

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 r

ob
be

rie
s 

M
C

61
44

33
I

49
35

W
53

39
W

58
44

W
58

44

T
he

 v
ol

um
e 

of
 r

ob
be

ry
 o

ffe
nc

es
 h

as
 

re
m

ai
ne

d 
co

ns
is

te
nt

ly
 lo

w
 th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

ye
ar

.  
T

hi
s 

cr
im

e 
ty

pe
 h

as
 h

ad
 a

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 o
ffe

nc
es

 th
is

 y
ea

r 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 la

st
 

ye
ar

; a
 r

ed
uc

tio
n 

of
 2

4%
.  

R
ob

be
rie

s 
w

ill
 

co
nt

in
ue

d 
to

 b
e 

m
on

ito
re

d 
bu

t i
t i

s 
no

t 
cu

rr
en

tly
 a

 p
rio

rit
y 

fo
r 

th
e 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

S
af

et
y 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 o
r 

W
es

t M
er

ci
a 

P
ol

ic
e.

2

Page 86



R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
R

ep
o

rt
 -

ed
?

�
��

��
��

��
	


�
�


�
�	

��
D

ec
 T

ar
g

et
D

ec
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

Ja
n

 T
ar

g
et

Ja
n

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
F

eb
 T

ar
g

et
F

eb
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

M
ar

 T
ar

g
et

M
ar

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
T

ar
g

et
 O

u
tt

u
rn

O
u

tt
u

rn
 

T
ar

g
et

 
&

T
re

n
d

C
o

m
m

en
ts

��
��

��
�

20
09

/1
0

N
W

B
C

U
4

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 v

eh
ic

le
 c

rim
es

 
M

C
74

4
52

0
50

1
I

57
8

55
5

I
63

1
61

2
W

69
0

67
2

W
69

0
67

2

T
he

re
 w

er
e 

60
 v

eh
ic

le
 c

rim
e 

of
fe

nc
es

 in
 

M
ar

ch
 w

hi
ch

 th
e 

am
ou

nt
 w

e 
w

ou
ld

 e
xp

ec
t 

ba
se

d 
on

 s
ea

so
na

l t
re

nd
s.

  T
he

re
 h

as
 

be
en

 a
 s

lig
ht

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
of

 2
.5

%
 th

is
 y

ea
r 

co
m

pa
re

d 
to

 th
e 

pr
ev

io
us

 y
ea

r.
  T

he
 

la
rg

es
t v

ol
um

e 
of

 v
eh

ic
le

 c
rim

es
 a

re
 a

 
re

su
lt 

of
 th

ef
t f

ro
m

 m
ot

or
 v

eh
ic

le
s;

 th
is

 
ha

s 
be

co
m

e 
a 

20
10

/1
1 

pr
io

rit
y 

fo
r 

B
ro

m
sg

ro
ve

 C
om

m
un

ity
 S

af
et

y 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 jo

in
t o

pe
ra

tio
ns

 b
et

w
ee

n 
th

e 
po

lic
e 

an
d 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rh
oo

d 
w

ar
de

ns
 

ha
s 

al
re

ad
y 

co
m

m
en

ce
d 

in
 th

e 
ca

r 
pa

rk
s 

of
 b

ea
ut

y 
sp

ot
s 

w
he

re
 m

an
y 

of
 th

es
e 

of
fe

nc
es

 o
cc

ur

N
W

B
C

U
6

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 C

rim
in

al
 D

am
ag

e 
In

ci
de

nt
s 

M
C

1,
06

4
79

5
68

1
I

87
2

74
5

W
94

5
81

6
W

1,
04

1
90

8
W

10
41

90
8

D
ur

in
g 

M
ar

ch
 th

e 
le

ve
l o

f c
rim

in
al

 d
am

ag
e 

of
fe

nc
es

 w
as

 th
e 

hi
gh

es
t i

t h
as

 b
ee

n 
fo

r 
m

an
y 

m
on

th
s 

bu
t s

til
l l

es
s 

th
an

 M
ar

ch
 

20
08

/9
.  

 O
ve

ra
ll 

th
er

e 
w

er
e 

13
%

 le
ss

 
cr

im
in

al
 d

am
ag

e 
of

fe
nc

es
 th

is
 y

ea
r 

co
m

pa
re

d 
to

 th
e 

pr
ev

io
us

 y
ea

r.
  C

rim
in

al
 

D
am

ag
e 

w
as

 a
 2

00
9/

10
 p

rio
rit

y 
fo

r 
th

e 
C

om
m

un
ity

 S
af

et
y 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

; a
s 

a 
re

su
lt 

m
an

y 
ta

rg
et

ed
 p

at
ro

ls
 w

er
e 

ca
rr

ie
d 

ou
t a

t 
ke

y 
ho

t s
po

ts
 to

 d
et

er
 o

ffe
nd

er
s 

w
hi

ch
 

se
em

s 
to

 h
av

e 
w

or
ke

d.
  C

rim
in

al
 D

am
ag

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
lo

ok
ed

 a
t d

ur
in

g 
20

10
/1

1 
un

de
r 

th
e 

Y
ou

th
 R

el
at

ed
 A

S
B

 p
rio

rit
y 

in
 a

n 
at

te
m

pt
 

to
 a

ch
ie

ve
 fu

rt
he

r 
re

du
ct

io
ns

.

LP
I C

S
 1

a
C

C
T

V
 in

ci
de

nt
s 

re
po

rt
ed

 -
 C

rim
e

M
C

3,
40

7
2,

54
7

2,
40

1
I

2,
83

0
2,

60
2

W
3,

11
3

2,
80

3
W

3,
39

6
3,

02
1

I
3,

40
0

3,
02

1

T
he

 to
w

n 
ce

nt
re

 w
as

 b
us

y 
w

ith
 a

 lo
t o

f 
ac

tiv
ity

 o
n 

th
e 

sh
op

w
at

ch
 r

ad
io

, 
su

sp
ic

io
us

 b
eh

av
io

ur
 a

nd
 th

ef
ts

 o
cc

ur
rin

g,
 

w
he

re
as

 A
S

B
 w

as
 m

uc
h 

lo
w

er
 th

an
 th

e 
pr

ev
io

us
 m

on
th

.

LP
I C

S
1b

C
C

T
V

 in
ci

de
nt

s 
In

iti
at

ed
 b

y 
C

C
T

V
M

C
99

1
73

8
71

4
I

82
0

80
7

I
90

2
87

0
W

98
4

94
1

I
1,

04
7

94
1

O
bs

er
va

tio
ns

 w
er

e 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

on
 la

st
 

m
on

th
, s

ta
ff 

w
er

e 
pr

oa
ct

iv
el

y 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

fo
r 

pu
rs

e 
th

ie
ve

s.

LP
I C

S
2

N
um

be
r 

of
 lo

ca
lly

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 

di
ve

rs
io

na
ry

 s
es

si
on

s
Q

C
17

6
14

7
14

1
I

15
2

14
1

W
16

4
16

1
I

18
0

16
3

W
18

0
16

3

S
es

si
on

s 
w

er
e 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
du

e 
to

 n
ew

 
pr

oj
ec

ts
 b

ut
 c

om
m

en
ce

d 
m

id
-m

on
th

.  
T

he
 

se
ss

io
ns

 w
ill

 b
ec

om
e 

re
gu

la
r 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
 

an
d 

m
ai

nt
ai

n 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 s
es

si
on

s 
de

liv
er

ed
.  

A
pr

il'
s 

E
as

te
r 

de
liv

er
y 

w
ill

 
pr

ov
id

e 
a 

hi
gh

 n
um

be
r 

of
 s

es
si

on
s.

LP
I C

S
3

N
um

be
rs

 o
f u

se
rs

 a
tte

nd
in

g 
di

ve
rs

io
na

ry
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

. 
Q

C
61

7
56

4
53

8
I

58
4

53
8

W
62

4
60

3
I

67
0

61
7

W
67

0
61

7

U
sa

ge
s 

w
er

e 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

du
e 

to
 n

ew
 

pr
oj

ec
ts

 b
ut

 c
om

m
en

ce
d 

m
id

-m
on

th
.  

T
he

 
se

ss
io

ns
 w

ill
 b

ec
om

e 
re

gu
la

r 
to

 in
cr

ea
se

 
an

d 
m

ai
nt

ai
n 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 s

es
si

on
s 

de
liv

er
ed

 a
nd

 u
se

rs
.  

A
pr

il'
s 

E
as

te
r 

de
liv

er
y 

w
ill

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 h

ig
h 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 

us
ag

es
.

3

Page 87



R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
R

ep
o

rt
 -

ed
?

�
��

��
��

��
	


�
�


�
�	

��
D

ec
 T

ar
g

et
D

ec
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

Ja
n

 T
ar

g
et

Ja
n

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
F

eb
 T

ar
g

et
F

eb
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

M
ar

 T
ar

g
et

M
ar

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
T

ar
g

et
 O

u
tt

u
rn

O
u

tt
u

rn
 

T
ar

g
et

 
&

T
re

n
d

C
o

m
m

en
ts

��
��

��
�

20
09

/1
0

LP
I C

S
4

N
o.

 o
f h

at
e 

cr
im

e 
in

ci
de

nt
s 

(a
ct

iv
ity

 
m

ea
su

re
)

M
S

n/
a

2
n/

a
n/

a
3

n/
a

n/
a

5
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a

T
he

re
 w

er
e 

fiv
e 

re
po

rt
s 

of
 h

at
e 

cr
im

e 
du

rin
g 

M
ar

ch
.  

T
hr

ee
 w

er
e 

re
po

rt
s 

of
 

ra
ci

sm
 w

hi
ch

 w
as

 r
ef

er
re

d 
to

 th
e 

po
lic

e 
fo

r 
ac

tio
n.

  T
he

re
 w

as
 o

ne
 r

ep
or

t o
f 

ho
m

op
ho

bi
a 

an
d 

an
ot

he
r 

re
po

rt
 r

eg
ar

di
ng

 
ve

rb
al

 a
bu

se
, t

hr
ea

t a
nd

 h
ar

as
sm

en
t 

be
lie

ve
d 

to
 b

e 
m

ot
iv

at
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

vi
ct

im
s 

di
sa

bi
lit

y 
 -

 th
es

e 
w

er
e 

al
so

 r
ef

er
re

d 
to

 th
e 

po
lic

e.

LP
I C

S
5

%
 o

f  
re

po
rt

ed
 h

at
e 

cr
im

e 
in

ci
de

nt
s 

re
qu

iri
ng

 fu
rt

he
r 

ac
tio

n 
th

at
 r

ec
ei

ve
d 

fu
rt

he
r 

ac
tio

n 
 

M
S

10
0

10
0

S
S

10
0

10
0

S
10

0
10

0
S

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

F
iv

e 
re

po
rt

s 
re

ce
iv

ed
 a

nd
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 a

nd
 

pr
op

or
tio

na
te

 a
ct

io
n 

w
as

 d
el

iv
er

ed
.

LP
I S

C
1

N
um

be
r 

of
 a

tte
nd

an
ce

s 
at

 a
rt

s 
ev

en
ts

M
C

20
,6

42
21

,2
72

23
,5

93
W

21
,3

24
23

,6
40

S
21

,4
26

23
,7

28
S

21
,2

61
23

,7
28

21
,2

61
23

,7
28

S
hi

nd
ig

 c
on

tin
ue

s 
to

 d
el

iv
er

 q
ua

lit
y 

ar
ts

 
an

d 
th

ea
tr

e 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

to
 r

ur
al

 a
nd

 
co

m
m

un
ity

 to
ur

in
g 

ve
nu

es
 th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

di
st

ric
t o

f B
ro

m
sg

ro
ve

 –
 in

 M
ar

ch
 th

is
 to

ok
 

pl
ac

e 
at

 C
le

nt
 V

ill
ag

e 
P

ar
is

h 
H

al
l. 

F
ig

ur
es

 
fo

r 
M

ar
ch

 a
re

 n
ot

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
du

e 
to

 
si

ck
ne

ss
 a

bs
en

ce
, h

ow
ev

er
 th

e 
 

cu
m

ul
at

iv
e 

ye
ar

 to
 d

at
e 

fig
ur

e 
at

 th
e 

en
d 

of
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

w
as

 w
el

l a
bo

ve
 th

e 
an

nu
al

 
ta

rg
et

.

LP
I 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

S
af

et
y

A
rt

rix
 u

sa
ge

 (
co

m
m

un
ity

 u
se

)
A

S
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
48

,8
21

60
,2

50
48

,8
21

60
,2

50
T

ar
ge

t e
xc

ee
de

d

S
C

3
D

ol
ph

in
 C

en
tr

e 
U

sa
ge

M
C

62
7,

40
4

35
4,

24
5

30
1,

17
3

W
40

1,
98

0
33

7,
21

5
I

44
9,

71
5

37
5,

40
4

I
49

74
55

41
5,

40
7

I
50

2,
47

8
41

5,
40

7

U
sa

ge
 fo

r 
M

ar
ch

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
th

e 
hi

gh
es

t o
f 

th
e 

ye
ar

, a
lth

ou
gh

 s
til

l f
ai

le
d 

to
 r

ea
ch

 
ta

rg
et

.  
U

sa
ge

 fo
r 

al
l a

re
as

 o
th

er
 th

an
 th

e 
sp

or
ts

 h
al

l h
ire

 (
w

hi
ch

 r
em

ai
ne

d 
th

e 
sa

m
e)

 in
cr

ea
se

d.

S
C

4
S

po
rt

s 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t u
sa

ge
s

M
C

21
,2

19
18

,2
70

21
,2

06
W

19
,3

98
23

,2
23

I
20

,8
98

26
,6

14
I

22
,7

02
30

,3
95

I
22

,5
56

30
,0

95

D
el

iv
er

y 
of

 m
an

y 
S

po
rt

 U
nl

im
ite

d 
pr

oj
ec

ts
, 

re
gu

la
r 

P
S

P
, M

ob
ili

ty
 a

nd
 F

F
T

 s
es

si
on

s 
pr

ov
id

ed
 a

 h
ig

h 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 u
sa

ge
s.

  T
he

 
en

d 
of

 y
ea

r 
2 

S
po

rt
 U

nl
im

ite
d 

re
qu

ire
s 

th
e 

ne
w

 p
ro

je
ct

s 
to

 c
om

m
en

ce
 in

 o
rd

er
 to

 
m

ai
nt

ai
n 

th
is

.

T
ow

n 
C

en
tr

e 
C

ar
 P

ar
k 

U
sa

ge
M

S
n/

a
n/

a
12

0,
25

4
W

n/
a

11
1,

03
7

W
n/

a
n/

a
12

7,
41

5
n/

a
12

7,
41

5
n/

a
12

7,
41

5 
us

ag
e 

in
 M

ar
ch

S
ho

pm
ob

ili
ty

 C
en

tr
e 

U
sa

ge
 (

M
on

th
ly

)
M

S
n/

a
15

0
11

6
W

15
0

91
W

15
0

12
3

I
15

0
12

7
I

15
0

14
4 

(a
ve

)
12

7 
us

er
s 

of
 s

ho
pm

ob
ili

ty
 s

er
vi

ce
 in

 
M

ar
ch

.  
A

ve
ra

ge
 m

on
th

ly
 u

sa
ge

 o
ve

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
 is

 1
44

LP
I L

L1
Li

fe
 li

ne
 u

ni
ts

 in
 u

se
M

S
54

7
72

0
72

8
S

73
0

73
0

W
74

0
74

0
W

75
0

75
1

I
75

0
75

1

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 p

riv
at

e 
di

sp
er

se
d 

in
st

al
la

tio
ns

 h
as

 in
cr

ea
se

d 
bu

t  
re

fe
rr

al
s 

un
de

r 
th

e 
P

T
G

 fu
nd

ed
 c

on
tr

ac
t h

av
e 

no
w

 
ce

as
ed

.  
M

* 
= 

in
 th

e 
m

on
th

s 
w

he
n 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
( 

3 
tim

es
 p

er
 y

ea
r)

4

Page 88



R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
R

ep
o

rt
 -

ed
?

�
��

��
��

��
	


�
�


�
�	

��
D

ec
 T

ar
g

et
D

ec
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

Ja
n

 T
ar

g
et

Ja
n

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
F

eb
 T

ar
g

et
F

eb
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

M
ar

 T
ar

g
et

M
ar

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
T

ar
g

et
 O

u
tt

u
rn

O
u

tt
u

rn
 

T
ar

g
et

 
&

T
re

n
d

C
o

m
m

en
ts

��
��

��
�

20
09

/1
0

P
la

n
n

in
g

 &
 E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
S

er
vi

ce
s

N
I 1

57
 

T
he

 p
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 m

aj
or

 p
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 w

ith
in

 1
3 

w
ee

ks
M

C
68

.8
0

80
.0

0
88

.9
0

W
80

.0
0

88
.8

0
S

80
.0

0
90

.0
0

I
80

.0
0

83
.0

0
W

80
.0

0
83

.0
0

M
aj

or
s;

 1
/2

 =
 5

0%
N

at
io

na
l T

ar
ge

t 6
0%

 (
Lo

ca
l T

ar
ge

t 8
0%

)
N

o 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 in

 th
is

 c
at

eg
or

y 
fo

r 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
an

d 
ju

st
 o

ne
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
fo

r 
F

eb
ru

ar
y.

 
M

ar
ch

 s
aw

 tw
o 

m
aj

or
s 

on
e 

w
as

 a
 

co
nt

ro
ve

rs
ia

l p
ro

po
sa

l f
or

 2
8 

af
fo

rd
ab

le
 

un
its

 in
 th

e 
G

re
en

 b
el

t a
s 

pr
op

os
ed

 b
y 

B
D

H
T

. T
hi

s 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
at

tr
ac

te
d 

a 
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 le
ve

l o
f i

nt
er

es
t a

nd
 w

as
 

de
la

ye
d 

du
e 

to
 c

on
si

de
ra

tio
n 

of
 r

ep
or

ts
 

re
la

tin
g 

to
 n

ee
d 

fo
r 

th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 u
ni

ts

N
I 1

57
 

T
he

 p
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 m

in
or

 p
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 w

ith
in

 8
 w

ee
ks

M
C

76
.5

0
85

.0
0

83
.0

0
W

85
.0

0
85

.3
0

I
85

.0
0

86
.8

0
I

85
.0

0
87

.8
0

I
85

.0
0

87
.8

0

M
in

or
s;

 1
2/

12
 =

 1
00

%
N

at
io

na
l T

ar
ge

t 6
5%

 (
Lo

ca
l T

ar
ge

t 8
5%

)
In

 th
e 

su
m

m
er

 a
ro

un
d 

16
/1

7 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 

w
er

e 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 in
 th

is
 c

at
eg

or
y 

in
 a

 
m

on
th

 w
hi

ls
t S

ep
te

m
be

r,
 O

ct
ob

er
 a

nd
 

N
ov

em
be

r 
sa

w
 a

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
to

 7
/9

 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
. 

D
ec

em
be

r 
ho

w
ev

er
 s

aw
 a

 r
is

e 
ba

ck
 u

p 
to

 
17

 a
nd

 th
is

 w
as

 s
us

ta
in

ed
 in

 J
an

ua
ry

 (
17

) 
an

d 
w

en
t u

p 
to

 2
3 

in
 F

eb
ru

ar
y.

 M
ar

ch
 s

aw
 

12
 a

pp
lic

at
io

ns
 a

ll 
of

 w
hi

ch
 w

er
e 

de
te

rm
in

ed
 in

 ti
m

e.

N
I 1

57
 

T
he

 p
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 o

th
er

 p
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 w

ith
in

 8
 w

ee
ks

M
C

89
.5

0
90

.0
0

90
.5

0
W

90
.0

0
90

.4
0

W
90

.0
0

90
.6

0
I

90
.0

0
91

.0
0

I
90

.0
0

91
.0

0

O
th

er
s;

 6
0/

62
 =

 9
6.

7%
 

N
at

io
na

l T
ar

ge
t 8

0%
 (

Lo
ca

l T
ar

ge
t 9

0%
)

T
he

 n
um

be
rs

 o
f m

in
or

 a
pp

lic
at

io
ns

 h
av

e 
re

m
ai

ne
d 

fa
irl

y 
co

ns
is

te
nt

 th
is

 q
ua

rt
er

 w
ith

 
42

 a
nd

 4
7 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 s
ub

m
itt

ed
 in

 O
ct

 
an

d 
N

ov
em

be
r.

 D
ec

em
be

r 
sa

w
 4

9 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 w

ith
 a

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
to

 3
2 

in
 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

w
ith

 3
3 

be
in

g 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 in
 

F
eb

ru
ar

y.
M

ar
ch

 s
aw

 a
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t i
nc

re
as

e 
to

 6
2 

de
ci

si
on

s.
 O

nl
y 

tw
o 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 w
en

t o
ut

 
of

 ti
m

e 
on

e 
w

as
 a

 c
ha

ng
e 

of
 u

se
 o

f a
 lo

g 
ca

bi
n 

(0
9/

08
52

) 
an

d 
an

ot
he

r 
re

la
te

d 
to

 a
 

re
pl

ac
em

en
t d

w
el

lin
g 

(0
9/

09
54

),
 th

es
e 

w
en

t o
ve

r 
du

e 
to

 c
om

pl
ex

 n
eg

ot
ia

tio
ns

 
an

d 
th

e 
ne

ed
 to

 c
on

su
lt 

N
at

ur
al

 E
ng

la
nd

.

N
I 1

55
N

um
be

r 
of

 a
ffo

rd
ab

le
 h

om
es

 d
el

iv
er

ed
Q

C
60

68
W

80
88

W
80

88
T

ar
ge

t e
xc

ee
de

d

5

Page 89



R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
R

ep
o

rt
 -

ed
?

�
��

��
��

��
	


�
�


�
�	

��
D

ec
 T

ar
g

et
D

ec
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

Ja
n

 T
ar

g
et

Ja
n

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
F

eb
 T

ar
g

et
F

eb
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

M
ar

 T
ar

g
et

M
ar

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
T

ar
g

et
 O

u
tt

u
rn

O
u

tt
u

rn
 

T
ar

g
et

 
&

T
re

n
d

C
o

m
m

en
ts

��
��

��
�

20
09

/1
0

N
I 1

56
N

um
be

r 
of

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

oc
cu

py
in

g 
te

m
po

ra
ry

 a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n

Q
S

34
13

S
<3

4
14

W
< 

34
14

.0
0

T
ar

ge
t e

xc
ee

de
d

LP
I

A
ve

ra
ge

 ti
m

e 
(w

ee
ks

) 
fr

om
 r

ef
er

ra
l t

o 
co

m
pl

et
io

n 
fo

r 
ca

te
go

ry
  1

 D
F

G
s 

Q
C

34
37

I
34

44
W

34
44

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 is
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

tly
 d

ow
n 

as
 a

 
re

su
lt 

of
 th

e 
bu

dg
et

 p
ro

vi
si

on
 th

is
 y

ea
r.

  
A

ll 
gr

an
t m

on
ey

 h
ad

 b
ee

n 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
O

ct
ob

er
 2

00
9,

 th
er

ef
or

e 
th

er
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 
an

d 
w

ill
 b

e 
an

 im
pa

ct
 u

po
n 

th
e 

tim
es

ca
le

s 
fo

r 
th

is
 y

ea
rs

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 g

ra
nt

s,
 a

s 
al

l 
ca

se
s 

w
er

e 
pl

ac
ed

 o
n 

ho
ld

 u
nt

il 
th

e 
ne

xt
 

fin
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r 
bu

dg
et

.

LP
I

A
ve

ra
ge

 ti
m

e 
(w

ee
ks

) 
fr

om
 r

ef
er

ra
l t

o 
co

m
pl

et
io

n 
fo

r 
ca

te
go

ry
  2

 D
F

G
s

Q
C

38
57

W
38

63
W

38
63

se
e 

ab
ov

e

LP
I

A
ve

ra
ge

 ti
m

e 
(w

ee
ks

) 
fr

om
 r

ef
er

ra
l t

o 
co

m
pl

et
io

n 
fo

r 
ca

te
go

ry
  3

 D
F

G
s

Q
C

52
75

W
52

63
W

52
63

se
e 

ab
ov

e

LP
I

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 D

F
G

 b
ud

ge
t a

llo
ca

te
d 

to
 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 s
ch

em
es

 (
ac

tiv
ity

 m
ea

su
re

)
Q

C
n/

a
10

0.
00

n/
a

n/
a

10
0.

00
n/

a
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
n/

a
se

e 
ab

ov
e

LP
I 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 D

F
G

 b
ud

ge
t s

pe
nt

 
(a

ct
iv

ity
 m

ea
su

re
)

Q
C

n/
a

69
.0

0
n/

a
n/

a
10

0.
00

n/
a

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

n/
a

se
e 

ab
ov

e

E
-g

o
v 

&
 C

u
st

o
m

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s

C
S

C

M
on

th
ly

 C
al

l V
ol

um
es

 C
us

to
m

er
 C

on
ta

ct
 

C
en

tr
e

M
S

n/
a

6,
43

6
9,

91
5

8,
38

0
11

,1
18

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

C
al

l v
ol

um
e 

re
ce

iv
ed

 b
y 

co
nt

ac
t c

en
tr

e 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

by
 3

3%
 c

om
pa

re
d 

to
 la

st
 

m
on

th
 w

hi
ch

 is
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

as
 c

ou
nc

il 
ta

x 
bi

lls
 h

it 
fr

om
 th

e 
be

gi
nn

in
g 

of
 th

e 
m

on
th

 
In

 a
dd

iti
on

 th
e 

co
m

m
en

ce
m

en
t o

f g
ar

de
n 

w
as

te
 c

ol
le

ct
io

n 
se

rv
ic

e 
is

 a
ls

o 
a 

fa
ct

or
 

dr
iv

in
g 

ca
ll 

vo
lu

m
e.

C
S

C

M
on

th
ly

 C
al

l V
ol

um
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

S
w

itc
hb

oa
rd

M
S

n/
a

3,
58

5
6,

71
1

4,
68

8
5,

38
8

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

C
al

l v
ol

um
es

 to
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
sw

itc
hb

oa
rd

 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

by
 1

5%
 d

ur
in

g 
th

is
 p

er
io

d

C
S

C
LP

I3
.1

R
es

ol
ut

io
n 

at
 F

irs
t P

oi
nt

 o
f C

on
ta

ct
 a

ll 
se

rv
ic

es
 (

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
)

M
S

99
.0

0
95

.0
0

98
I

95
.0

0
98

.5
I

95
.0

0
98

S
95

.0
0

98
S

95
.0

0
95

.0
0

A
ll 

re
so

lu
tio

n 
ra

te
s 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 e

xc
ee

d 
ta

rg
et

C
S

C
LP

I3
.2

%
 o

f C
al

ls
 A

ns
w

er
ed

M
S

87
.0

0
85

.0
0

93
.0

0
I

85
.0

0
88

.0
0

W
85

.0
0

88
.0

0
S

85
.0

0
89

.0
0

I
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
O

ve
ra

ll 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 c

on
si

st
en

t w
ith

 la
st

 
m

on
th

 a
nd

 is
 a

bo
ve

 ta
rg

et

C
S

C
LP

I3
.3

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
pe

ed
 o

f A
ns

w
er

 (
se

co
nd

s)
M

S
30

.0
0

20
.0

0
11

.0
0

I
20

.0
0

23
.0

0
W

20
.0

0
23

.0
0

S
20

.0
0

27
W

20
.0

0
20

 (
av

e)

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 h
as

 fa
lle

n 
un

de
r 

ta
rg

et
 th

is
 

m
on

th
 d

riv
en

 b
y 

th
e 

hi
gh

 c
al

l v
ol

um
es

 
re

su
lti

ng
 fr

om
 C

ou
nc

il 
T

ax
 m

ai
n 

bi
lli

ng
  

T
he

 e
nd

 o
f y

ea
r 

re
su

lt 
fo

r 
cu

m
ul

at
iv

e 
av

er
ag

e 
an

sw
er

 ti
m

e 
hi

ts
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

ta
rg

et
 o

f 2
0 

se
co

nd
s

6

Page 90



R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
R

ep
o

rt
 -

ed
?

�
��

��
��

��
	


�
�


�
�	

��
D

ec
 T

ar
g

et
D

ec
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

Ja
n

 T
ar

g
et

Ja
n

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
F

eb
 T

ar
g

et
F

eb
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

M
ar

 T
ar

g
et

M
ar

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
T

ar
g

et
 O

u
tt

u
rn

O
u

tt
u

rn
 

T
ar

g
et

 
&

T
re

n
d

C
o

m
m

en
ts

��
��

��
�

20
09

/1
0

C
h

ie
f 

E
xe

cu
ti

ve
's

 
d

ep
ar

tm
en

t

LP
I 

C
C

P
P

01
 

N
um

be
r 

of
 c

om
pl

ai
nt

s 
re

ce
iv

ed
 

(C
ou

nc
il 

w
id

e)
 M

on
th

ly
.  

S
ou

rc
e 

 n
ew

 
co

m
pl

ai
nt

s 
sy

st
em

. 
M

C
27

0
n/

a
12

9
I

n/
a

16
3

W
n/

a
17

5
I

n/
a

20
0

W
n/

a
20

0
n/

a

T
he

 s
ta

rt
 o

f t
he

 g
re

en
 w

as
te

 c
ol

le
ct

io
ns

 
an

d 
th

e 
ch

an
ge

ov
er

 to
 b

ro
w

n 
bi

ns
 h

as
 

ca
us

ed
 a

n 
in

cr
ea

se
 in

 th
e 

nu
m

be
r 

re
ce

iv
ed

 in
 M

ar
ch

.  
C

om
pl

ai
nt

s 
re

ce
iv

ed
 

w
er

e:
 3

 a
bo

ut
 o

nl
in

e 
pa

ym
en

ts
 n

ot
 b

ei
ng

 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

on
 w

eb
si

te
 fo

r 
pa

rk
in

g 
fin

es
,1

ab
ou

t a
 p

ro
te

ct
ed

 tr
ee

 1
 a

bo
ut

 d
irt

y 
to

w
n 

to
ile

ts
, 2

 a
bo

ut
 a

tti
tu

de
 o

f p
ar

ki
ng

 
st

af
f, 

1 
ab

ou
t c

ar
 p

ar
ki

ng
 c

ha
rg

es
, 1

 
ab

ou
t s

ta
ff 

fe
ed

in
g 

to
w

n 
pi

ge
on

s,
 1

 a
bo

ut
 

ne
w

 to
w

n 
to

ile
ts

, 4
 a

bo
ut

 m
is

se
d 

co
lle

ct
io

ns
, 1

0 
va

rio
us

 a
bo

ut
 g

ar
de

n 
w

as
te

 c
ol

le
ct

io
ns

 in
c 

la
ck

 o
f i

nf
o,

 b
ro

w
n 

bi
ns

 n
ot

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 a

nd
 u

nh
ap

py
 a

bo
ut

 
pa

ym
en

t a
nd

  1
 a

bo
ut

 c
ha

ng
es

 to
 th

e 
re

cy
cl

in
g 

se
rv

ic
e.

 

LP
I 

C
C

P
P

03
 

N
um

be
r 

of
 c

om
pl

im
en

ts
 r

ec
ei

ve
d 

M
C

70
n/

a
41

I
n/

a
47

W
n/

a
58

I
n/

a
60

I
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a

C
om

pl
im

en
ts

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
– 

1 
ab

ou
t e

xc
el

le
nt

 
se

rv
ic

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 b

y 
B

U
R

T
, 3

 a
bo

ut
 S

po
rt

s 
A

w
ar

ds
 o

rg
an

is
ed

 b
y 

S
po

rt
s 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t,1
 a

bo
ut

 th
e 

S
tr

ee
t 

C
le

an
si

ng
 T

ea
m

,  
5 

ab
ou

t e
xc

el
le

nt
 

se
rv

ic
e 

fr
om

 W
as

te
 a

nd
 R

ec
yc

lin
g 

T
ea

m
s 

an
d 

2 
ab

ou
t s

er
vi

ce
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 th

e 
C

us
to

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

 C
en

tr
e 

T
ea

m
.

LP
I 

C
C

P
P

05
 

C
om

m
un

ity
 tr

an
sp

or
t i

nc
om

e 
(£

)
M

C
n/

a
82

5
87

5
W

1,
15

0
99

7
W

1,
50

0
1,

26
5

I
1,

87
5

1,
75

0
I

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

T
he

 s
er

vi
ce

 h
as

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
ve

ry
 p

os
iti

ve
 

fe
ed

ba
ck

.  
O

ut
tu

rn
 is

 b
el

ow
 ta

rg
et

, b
ut

 
w

ith
in

 1
0%

.  
S

ev
er

e 
w

ea
th

er
 in

 J
an

ua
ry

 &
 

F
eb

ru
ar

y 
le

d 
to

 a
 d

ro
p 

in
 th

e 
us

ag
e 

of
 th

e 
se

rv
ic

e,
 b

ut
 u

sa
ge

/in
co

m
e 

ha
s 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
co

ns
id

er
ab

ly
 in

 M
ar

ch

F
in

an
ci

al
 S

er
vi

ce
s

N
I1

81
T

im
e 

ta
ke

n 
to

 p
ro

ce
ss

 H
B

/C
T

 b
en

ef
it 

ne
w

 c
la

im
s 

or
 c

ha
ng

e 
ev

en
ts

 (
da

ys
)

M
C

15
.0

3
15

.0
0

9.
97

W
15

.0
0

10
.1

3
W

15
.0

0
9.

15
I

15
.0

0
9.

12
I

15
.0

0
9.

12

M
ar

ch
 h

as
 s

ho
w

n 
fu

rt
he

r 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t t
o 

N
I1

81
.  

In
 a

dd
iti

on
 to

 th
is

, t
he

 y
ea

r 
to

 d
at

e 
ha

s 
be

at
en

 th
e 

ta
rg

et
 fo

r 
m

or
e 

th
an

 5
 

da
ys

 a
nd

 is
 fa

r 
be

tte
r 

th
an

 p
re

di
ct

ed
. 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t o

n 
th

is
 P

I h
as

 b
ee

n 
do

w
n 

to
 

th
e 

ha
rd

 w
or

k 
of

 s
ta

ff 
an

d 
ne

w
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s 
/ p

ro
ce

ss
es

, m
os

t n
ot

ab
ly

 V
R

A
.  

H
ow

ev
er

, 
fu

rt
he

r 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 c

an
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

in
 

20
10

 / 
11

 w
ith

 m
or

e 
co

nc
en

tr
at

io
n 

on
 

ch
an

ge
s 

in
 d

et
ai

ls
.

7

Page 91



R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
R

ep
o

rt
 -

ed
?

�
��

��
��

��
	


�
�


�
�	

��
D

ec
 T

ar
g

et
D

ec
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

Ja
n

 T
ar

g
et

Ja
n

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
F

eb
 T

ar
g

et
F

eb
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

M
ar

 T
ar

g
et

M
ar

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
T

ar
g

et
 O

u
tt

u
rn

O
u

tt
u

rn
 

T
ar

g
et

 
&

T
re

n
d

C
o

m
m

en
ts

��
��

��
�

20
09

/1
0

T
ot

al
 v

al
ue

 o
f H

B
 o

ve
rp

ay
m

en
ts

 
ou

ts
ta

nd
in

g 
at

 th
e 

st
ar

t o
f t

he
 q

ua
rt

er
 

(£
)

Q
S

56
7,

50
3

W
n/

a
60

9,
75

5
W

n/
a

60
9,

75
5

n/
a

T
he

 a
m

ou
nt

 o
f o

ve
rp

ai
d 

B
en

ef
it 

ha
s 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 2
00

9/
10

 d
ue

 to
 lo

w
 

re
co

ve
ry

 le
ve

ls
 a

nd
 p

oo
r 

pr
oc

es
se

s.
  

H
ow

ev
er

, r
ec

ru
itm

en
t o

f a
 d

ed
ic

at
ed

 
ov

er
pa

ym
en

t o
ffi

ce
r 

is
 u

nd
er

w
ay

 a
nd

 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

in
 p

la
ce

 M
ay

 2
01

0.
  T

hi
s 

sh
ou

ld
 

se
e 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 th

e 
pr

oc
es

se
s 

an
d 

an
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 th
e 

de
bt

s 
re

co
ve

re
d.

  A
ls

o,
 

B
en

ef
it 

w
or

k 
is

 m
or

e 
up

 to
 d

at
e 

so
 th

e 
am

ou
nt

 o
f d

eb
ts

 b
ei

ng
 r

ai
se

d 
is

 le
ss

 th
an

 
in

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
ye

ar
s.

 

T
ot

al
 v

al
ue

 o
f H

B
 o

ve
rp

ay
m

en
ts

 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
qu

ar
te

r 
(£

)
Q

S
10

3,
50

7
W

n/
a

75
,7

72
I

n/
a

75
,7

72
n/

a
as

 a
bo

ve

%
 o

f H
B

 o
ve

rp
ay

m
en

ts
 r

ec
ov

er
ed

 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

qu
ar

te
r 

of
 th

e 
ou

ts
ta

nd
in

g 
de

bt
.

Q
S

15
.0

0
9.

07
I

8.
00

W
15

.0
0

8.
00

£4
7,

95
9 

w
as

 r
ec

ov
er

ed
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
qu

ar
te

r,
 s

ee
 o

th
er

 c
om

m
en

ts
 a

bo
ve

 r
e 

an
 

ov
er

pa
ym

en
t o

ffi
ce

r.

%
 o

f t
he

 o
ut

st
an

di
ng

 H
B

 o
ve

rp
ay

m
en

ts
 

de
bt

 w
rit

te
n 

of
f d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
 q

ua
rt

er
Q

S
1.

47
W

1.
08

I
2.

00
1.

08

T
he

 a
m

ou
nt

 o
f B

en
ef

it 
ov

er
pa

ym
en

t 
w

rit
te

n 
of

f (
£6

,6
07

) 
is

 le
ss

 th
an

 th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 %
 s

et
 a

t t
he

 s
ta

rt
 o

f t
he

 y
ea

r.
  

T
hi

s 
is

 b
ec

au
se

, w
he

re
 p

os
si

bl
e,

 a
ll 

ov
er

pa
ym

en
ts

 a
re

 r
ec

ov
er

ab
le

, u
nl

es
s 

in
 

ex
ce

pt
io

na
l c

irc
um

st
an

ce
s.

  I
n 

ad
di

tio
n 

to
 

th
is

, m
or

e 
st

ric
t q

ua
lit

y 
co

nt
ro

l p
ro

ce
ss

es
 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
in

tr
od

uc
ed

 m
ea

ni
ng

 a
ny

 
po

te
nt

ia
l e

rr
or

s 
ar

e 
pi

ck
ed

 u
p 

so
on

er
.

N
I 1

79
V

F
M

 -
 to

ta
l n

et
 v

al
ue

 g
o 

on
-g

oi
ng

 c
as

h 
re

le
as

in
g 

V
F

M
 g

ai
ns

 s
in

ce
 th

e 
st

ar
t o

f 
20

08
-0

9 
(£

'0
00

)
Q

C
87

9
44

2
W

75
9

73
0

W
75

9
73

0

T
he

 e
ffi

ci
en

cy
 s

av
in

g 
pr

ed
ic

te
d 

in
 

D
ec

em
be

r 
w

as
 r

ev
is

ed
 a

fte
r 

re
vi

ew
in

g 
in

 
Ja

nu
ar

y,
 h

ow
ev

er
 th

er
e 

is
 a

 s
ho

rt
fa

ll 
on

 
th

e 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 o

ut
tu

rn
 d

ue
 to

 a
 s

ho
rt

fa
ll 

in
 

th
e 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 in
co

m
e 

fo
r 

Li
ce

ns
in

g.
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 in

vo
ic

es
 p

ai
d 

w
ith

in
 1

0 
da

ys
 o

f r
ec

ei
pt

M
C

n/
a

90
.0

0
82

.9
0

W
90

.0
0

82
.7

9
W

90
.0

0
82

.6
0

W
90

.0
0

83
.6

0
I

90
.0

0
83

.0
0

A
lth

ou
gh

 th
e 

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f i
nv

oi
ce

s 
pa

id
 

w
ith

in
 1

0 
da

ys
 is

 b
el

ow
 ta

rg
et

 fo
r 

th
e 

ye
ar

 
th

e 
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 fo
r 

M
ar

ch
 w

as
 9

4.
5%

. 

F
P

00
1

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 in

vo
ic

es
 p

ai
d 

w
ith

in
 3

0 
da

ys
 o

f r
ec

ei
pt

M
C

99
.3

8
98

.0
0

98
.1

7
W

98
.0

0
97

.9
0

W
98

.0
0

97
.9

5
I

98
.0

0
98

.1
1

I
98

.0
0

98
.0

0
O

n 
T

ar
ge

t

L
eg

al
, E

q
u

al
it

ie
s 

an
d

 
D

em
o

cr
at

ic
 S

er
vi

ce
s

T
he

re
 a

re
 n

o 
P

I's
 r

ep
or

te
d 

m
on

th
ly

 
fo

r 
th

is
 d

ep
ar

tm
en

t

8

Page 92



R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
R

ep
o

rt
 -

ed
?

�
��

��
��

��
	


�
�


�
�	

��
D

ec
 T

ar
g

et
D

ec
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

Ja
n

 T
ar

g
et

Ja
n

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
F

eb
 T

ar
g

et
F

eb
 A

ct
u

al
T

ar
g

et
 &

 
tr

en
d

M
ar

 T
ar

g
et

M
ar

 A
ct

u
al

T
ar

g
et

 &
 

tr
en

d
T

ar
g

et
 O

u
tt

u
rn

O
u

tt
u

rn
 

T
ar

g
et

 
&

T
re

n
d

C
o

m
m

en
ts

��
��

��
�

20
09

/1
0

LD
 L

P
I 1

N
ew

 E
qu

al
ity

 fr
am

ew
or

k 
(r

ep
la

ce
s 

eq
ua

lit
y 

st
an

da
rd

 a
bo

ve
 in

 2
00

9/
10

)
Q

S
n/

a
Le

ve
l 2

Le
ve

l 2
S

Le
ve

l 2
Le

ve
l 2

S
Le

ve
l 2

Le
ve

l 2

B
D

C
 r

ea
ch

ed
 L

ev
el

 3
 o

f t
he

 E
qu

al
ity

 
S

ta
nd

ar
d 

fo
r 

Lo
ca

l G
ov

er
nm

en
t i

n 
A

pr
il 

20
09

. T
he

 S
ta

nd
ar

d 
w

as
 r

ep
la

ce
d 

by
 th

e 
E

qu
al

ity
 F

ra
m

ew
or

k 
an

d 
ou

r 
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
m

ig
ra

te
d 

to
 th

e 
ne

w
 s

ys
te

m
 a

s 
Le

ve
l 2

 -
 

A
ch

ie
vi

ng
. T

hi
s 

as
se

ss
m

en
ts

 la
st

s 
un

til
 

A
pr

il 
20

12
.  

W
e 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
ad

vi
se

d 
th

at
 

as
 w

e 
w

er
e 

as
se

ss
ed

 u
nd

er
 th

e 
ol

d 
sy

st
em

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

is
 n

ot
 n

ec
es

sa
ril

y 
fu

lly
 

at
 th

e 
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

 le
ve

l. 
T

he
re

 w
ill

 b
e 

a 
pa

pe
r 

re
vi

ew
 o

f w
he

re
 w

e 
ar

e 
in

 M
ay

 
20

10
 w

ith
 a

 c
on

su
lta

nt
 fr

om
 th

e 
ID

eA
 w

ho
 

w
ill

 a
dv

is
e 

on
 w

he
th

er
 th

er
e 

ar
e 

st
ill

 a
ny

 
ga

ps
 to

 b
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
to

 c
on

fir
m

 th
e 

A
ch

ie
vi

ng
 le

ve
l a

nd
 w

ha
t w

e 
w

ill
 n

ee
d 

to
 

do
 to

 r
ea

ch
 L

ev
el

 3
 o

f t
he

 E
qu

al
ity

 
F

ra
m

ew
or

k 
w

hi
ch

 is
 E

xc
el

le
nt

H
u

m
an

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 &
 

O
rg

an
is

at
io

n
al

 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 

LP
I 

(f
or

m
er

ly
 

B
V

12
)

T
he

 a
ve

ra
ge

 n
um

be
r 

of
 w

or
ki

ng
 d

ay
s 

lo
st

 d
ue

 to
 s

ic
kn

es
s.

M
C

10
.6

6
6.

39
7.

17
I

7.
18

7.
70

S
7.

97
8.

31
W

8.
75

9.
12

W
8.

75
9.

12

A
lth

ou
gh

 th
er

e 
w

as
 a

 s
lig

ht
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 
th

e 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 r
ep

or
te

d 
ab

se
nc

es
 w

ith
in

 
M

ar
ch

, t
he

 y
ea

r 
en

d 
fig

ur
e 

is
 w

ith
in

 1
0%

 
of

 ta
rg

et
 

9

Page 93



Page 94

This page is intentionally left blank



S
tr

ee
ts

ce
n

e 
&

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

T
ar

ge
t

48
.6

1
50

.0
1

49
.1

2
49

.0
0

49
.0

4
49

.0
3

48
.2

7
50

.1
3

54
.6

1
49

.3
2

45
.7

4
50

.1
1

A
ct

ua
l

52
.5

6
48

.1
0

50
.5

0
52

.1
1

45
.4

9
48

.3
3

51
.3

3
51

.4
5

58
.4

7
46

.5
3

46
.7

5
53

.4
4

2,
04

0.
68

1,
86

7.
76

1,
96

0.
96

2,
02

3.
16

17
70

.8
4

18
81

.3
6

19
98

.3
1

20
02

.8
2

22
76

.3
6

18
11

.3
4

18
20

.1
0

20
80

.5
4

38
,8

28
38

,8
28

38
,8

28
38

,8
28

38
92

9
38

92
9

38
92

9
38

92
9

38
92

9
38

92
9

38
92

9
38

92
9

T
ar

ge
t

32
.0

7
31

.9
8

32
.5

8
33

.1
2

33
.7

8
34

.2
9

34
.5

1
34

.5
7

24
.3

2
33

.1
6

32
.6

8
32

.7
2

A
ct

ua
l

39
.3

0
42

.2
9

42
.1

9
41

.8
5

42
.4

1
43

.3
2

36
.8

6
33

.8
5

23
.0

4
26

.2
8

27
.2

5
31

.3
7

1,
32

1.
28

9
1,

36
8.

69
8

1,
43

0.
86

6
1,

45
5.

83
7

13
03

.9
29

14
37

.8
71

11
66

.5
89

10
24

.9
06

68
1.

46
0

64
5.

86
8

65
2.

86
6

95
1.

10
8

3,
36

1.
96

9
3,

23
6.

47
8

3,
39

1.
82

2
3,

47
8.

99
7

30
74

.7
69

33
19

.2
31

31
64

.8
99

30
27

.7
26

29
57

.8
18

24
57

.2
04

23
96

.1
09

30
31

.6
48

T
ar

ge
t

5

A
ct

ua
l

1

T
ar

ge
t

13

A
ct

ua
l

9

T
ar

ge
t

20

A
ct

ua
l

23

T
ar

ge
t

1

A
ct

ua
l

1

T
ar

ge
t

2

A
ct

ua
l

2

T
ar

ge
t

95
95

95
95

95
95

95
95

95
95

95
95

A
ct

ua
l

12
9

12
3

12
7

67
68

49
79

59
50

74
38

89

T
ar

ge
t

20
20

20
20

20
20

20
20

20
20

20
20

A
ct

ua
l

18
6

20
18

9
5

9
13

4
18

21
14

T
ar

ge
t

45
9

47
5

45
9

47
5

47
5

45
9

47
5

45
9

47
5

47
5

42
9

47
5

A
ct

ua
l

45
9

40
9

42
7

48
8

47
3

43
1

40
8

41
5

40
2

43
7

42
0

50
5

T
ar

ge
t

32
33

32
33

33
32

32
33

33
33

30
33

A
ct

ua
l

35
13

33
16

25
23

11
19

23
39

43
45

T
ar

ge
t

76
85

85
82

85
79

77
71

69
70

63
76

A
ct

ua
l

81
81

75
93

10
3

10
7

83
66

87
10

4
82

94

N
W

B
C

U
1

N
I 1

95

N
I 1

95

N
I 1

95

N
I 1

95

N
W

B
C

U
2

A
pr

. 
M

ay
.

Ju
n.

Ju
l.

A
ug

.
S

ep
. 

O
ct

. 
N

ov
. 

N
I 1

92
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
 w

as
te

 r
e-

us
ed

, r
ec

yc
le

d 
an

d 
co

m
po

st
ed

F
re

q

20
09

/1
0 

M
o

n
th

ly
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 f

ig
u

re
s

D
ec

. 
Ja

n.
 

F
eb

.

C
um

 o
r 

S
na

p
M

ar
. 

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n

N
I 1

91
R

es
id

ua
l H

ou
se

ho
ld

 w
as

te
 p

er
 

ho
us

eh
ol

d

C

M
*

M

Im
pr

ov
ed

 s
tr

ee
t &

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l 
cl

ea
nl

in
es

s 
-li

tte
r

Im
pr

ov
ed

 s
tr

ee
t &

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l 
cl

ea
nl

in
es

s 
- 

de
tr

itu
s

Im
pr

ov
ed

 s
tr

ee
t &

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l 
cl

ea
nl

in
es

s 
- 

fly
 p

os
tin

g

N
I 1

96

LP
I D

ep
ot

LP
I D

ep
ot

N
um

be
r 

of
 m

is
se

d 
re

cy
cl

e 
w

as
te

 
co

lle
ct

io
ns

Im
pr

ov
ed

 s
tr

ee
t a

nd
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

cl
ea

nl
in

es
s 

 -
 fl

y 
tip

pi
ng

Im
pr

ov
ed

 s
tr

ee
t &

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l 
cl

ea
nl

in
es

s 
- 

gr
af

fit
i

M
N

um
be

r 
of

 m
is

se
d 

ho
us

eh
ol

d 
w

as
te

 
co

lle
ct

io
ns

MM
*

CC

M
*

C

M
*

C C C

M
CC

M
C

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 d

om
es

tic
 b

ur
gl

ar
ie

s 

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 v

io
le

nt
 c

rim
es

nu
m

er
at

or

de
no

m
in

at
or

M
C

nu
m

er
at

or

de
no

m
in

at
or

M
C

T
ot

al
 c

rim
es

M

Page 95



T
ar

ge
t

5
5

5
5

5
5

5
5

5
5

4
5

A
ct

ua
l

4
4

3
4

4
5

3
5

1
2

3
5

T
ar

ge
t

58
59

57
59

59
57

59
57

59
59

53
59

A
ct

ua
l

59
37

65
77

66
49

38
57

55
54

58
60

T
ar

ge
t

84
99

92
85

75
10

3
77

84
96

77
73

96

A
ct

ua
l

75
79

60
95

76
83

75
78

60
64

71
92

T
ar

ge
t

28
3

28
3

28
3

28
3

28
3

28
3

28
3

28
3

28
3

28
3

28
3

28
3

A
ct

ua
l

25
8

25
7

22
8

25
0

24
8

35
3

34
5

21
6

25
3

20
1

20
1

21
8

T
ar

ge
t

82
82

82
82

82
82

82
82

82
82

82
82

A
ct

ua
l

76
80

74
62

74
87

91
69

10
1

93
63

71

T
ar

ge
t

16
18

18
20

22
16

18
14

5
5

12
16

A
ct

ua
l

27
12

0
15

63
0

15
0

9
0

20
2

T
ar

ge
t

54
67

80
94

94
67

54
34

20
20

40
46

A
ct

ua
l

35
23

0
18

38
3

0
58

0
25

0
65

14

T
ar

ge
t

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

A
ct

ua
l

1
3

1
2

1
1

2
2

2
3

5

T
ar

ge
t

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

A
ct

ua
l

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
T

ar
ge

t
75

47
0

3,
02

5
1,

01
0

13
,1

75
70

0
71

0
2,

50
0

10
7

52
92

?

A
ct

ua
l

80
49

5
5,

40
5

84
0

12
,5

75
75

8
76

3
2,

22
5

45
2

47
88

?

T
ar

ge
t

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

48
,8

21

A
ct

ua
l

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

60
,2

50

T
ar

ge
t

34
,0

58
35

,1
73

35
,1

73
35

,1
73

35
,1

73
40

,1
99

45
,2

33
48

,8
30

45
,2

33
47

,7
35

47
,7

35
47

,7
40

A
ct

ua
l

29
,1

23
37

,3
36

33
,9

82
34

,2
21

30
,7

97
34

,4
68

35
,5

67
39

,8
73

25
,8

06
36

,0
42

38
,1

89
40

,0
03

T
ar

ge
t

1,
80

4
2,

03
0

2,
48

1
2,

48
1

2,
25

6
2,

03
0

2,
03

0
1,

80
4

1,
12

8
1,

12
8

15
80

18
04

A
ct

ua
l

1,
96

6
2,

51
4

2,
84

9
2,

68
6

2,
35

1
1,

94
1

3,
06

4
3,

66
4

1,
17

1
2,

02
7

29
19

37
81

T
ar

ge
t

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

A
ct

ua
l

12
7,

10
6

12
9,

16
7

13
0,

09
2

13
5,

96
5

12
5,

45
8

12
4,

06
0

13
4,

65
4

13
0,

99
5

12
0,

25
4

11
1,

03
7

?
12

7,
41

5

T
ar

ge
t

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

A
ct

ua
l

13
0

13
6

17
8

16
6

15
6

19
6

16
3

15
6

11
6

91
12

3
12

7

T
ar

ge
t

64
0

65
0

66
0

67
0

68
0

69
0

70
0

71
0

72
0

73
0

74
0

75
0

A
ct

ua
l

64
3

64
4

65
7

68
2

68
7

72
5

73
3

72
8

72
8

73
0

74
0

75
1

N
W

B
C

U
3

T
ow

n 
C

en
tr

e 
C

ar
 P

ar
k 

U
sa

ge

LP
I 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

S
af

et
y

S
C

4

LP
I S

C
1

M
CC C

M
S

M
C

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 r

ob
be

rie
s 

C
N

um
be

r 
of

 a
tte

nd
an

ce
s 

at
 a

rt
s 

ev
en

ts
M

LP
I C

S
1b

N
W

B
C

U
4

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 v

eh
ic

le
 c

rim
es

 
M

N
W

B
C

U
6

T
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 c

rim
in

al
 d

am
ag

e 
in

ci
de

nt
s

C
C

T
V

 in
ci

de
nt

s 
In

iti
at

ed
 b

y 
C

C
T

V
M

LP
I C

S
3

A
rt

rix
 u

sa
ge

A
C

N
um

be
rs

 o
f u

se
rs

 a
tte

nd
in

g 
di

ve
rs

io
na

ry
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

. 
Q

C

LP
I C

S
4

N
o.

 o
f h

at
e 

cr
im

e 
in

ci
de

nt
s 

(a
ct

iv
ity

 
m

ea
su

re
)

M

S
C

3
D

ol
ph

in
 C

en
tr

e 
U

sa
ge

M
C

S
po

rt
s 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t u

sa
ge

s
M

C

S
ho

pm
ob

ili
ty

 C
en

tr
e 

U
sa

ge
M

S

LP
I C

S
 1

a
C

C
T

V
 in

ci
de

nt
s 

re
po

rt
ed

 -
 C

rim
e

M
C

LP
I C

S
2

N
um

be
r 

of
 lo

ca
lly

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 

di
ve

rs
io

na
ry

 s
es

si
on

s
Q

C

LP
I L

L1
Li

fe
 li

ne
 u

ni
ts

 in
 u

se
M

CS

LP
I C

S
5

%
 o

f  
re

po
rt

ed
 h

at
e 

cr
im

e 
in

ci
de

nt
s 

re
qu

iri
ng

 fu
rt

he
r 

ac
tio

n 
th

at
 r

ec
ei

ve
d 

fu
rt

he
r 

ac
tio

n 
 

M
S

Page 96



M
* 

= 
in

 th
e 

m
on

th
s 

w
he

n 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

( 
3 

tim
es

 p
er

 y
ea

r)

P
la

n
n

in
g

 &
 E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
S

er
vi

ce
s

T
ar

ge
t

80
.0

0
80

.0
0

80
.0

0
80

.0
0

80
.0

0
80

.0
0

80
.0

0
80

.0
0

80
.0

0
80

.0
0

80
.0

0
80

.0
0

A
ct

ua
l

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

n/
a

n/
a

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

n/
a

n/
a

50
.0

0
n/

a
10

0.
00

50
.0

0

1
2

0
0

1
3

0
0

1
0

1
1

1
2

0
0

1
3

0
0

2
0

1
2

T
ar

ge
t

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

A
ct

ua
l

92
.0

0
85

.7
0

70
.0

0
94

.0
0

70
.5

0
10

0.
00

89
.0

0
10

0.
00

70
.5

0
94

.0
0

95
.6

0
10

0.
00

12
12

7
15

12
7

8
9

12
16

22
12

13
14

10
16

17
7

9
9

17
17

23
12

T
ar

ge
t

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

A
ct

ua
l

89
.0

0
98

.0
0

85
.0

0
89

.0
0

89
.0

0
81

.0
0

90
.0

0
98

.0
0

92
.0

0
91

.0
0

93
.9

0
96

.7
0

41
54

41
50

49
39

38
46

45
29

31
60

46
55

48
56

55
48

42
47

49
32

33
62

T
ar

ge
t

20
20

20
20

A
ct

ua
l

22
24

22
20

T
ar

ge
t

< 
34

< 
34

< 
34

< 
34

A
ct

ua
l

15
13

13
14

T
ar

ge
t

34
34

34
34

34
34

34
34

34
34

34
34

A
ct

ua
l

34
23

35

T
ar

ge
t

38
38

38
38

38
38

38
38

38
38

38
38

A
ct

ua
l

49
55

72

T
ar

ge
t

52
52

52
52

52
52

52
52

52
52

52
52

A
ct

ua
l

62
88

67

T
ar

ge
t

10
0

A
ct

ua
l

95
10

0
10

0

T
ar

ge
t

10
0

A
ct

ua
l

40
10

0

E
-g

o
v 

&
 c

u
st

o
m

er
 s

er
vi

ce
s

T
ar

ge
t

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

A
ct

ua
l

8,
59

9
6,

71
4

7,
87

0
8,

27
7

6,
80

2
7,

63
7

7,
20

4
7,

16
1

6,
43

6
9,

91
5

8,
38

0
11

,1
18

T
ar

ge
t

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

A
ct

ua
l

4,
63

1
4,

20
3

4,
58

0
4,

45
2

3,
66

0
4,

24
7

4,
49

5
4,

29
5

3,
58

5
6,

71
1

4,
68

8
5,

38
8

T
ar

ge
t

95
.0

0
95

.0
0

95
.0

0
95

.0
0

95
.0

0
95

.0
0

95
.0

0
95

.0
0

95
.0

0
95

.0
0

95
.0

0
95

.0
0

A
ct

ua
l

99
.0

0
99

.0
0

99
.0

0
93

.5
0

94
.0

0
97

.0
0

91
.0

0
97

.0
0

98
.0

0
98

.5
0

98
.0

0
98

.0
0

T
ar

ge
t

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

85
.0

0
85

.0
0

A
ct

ua
l

89
.0

0
92

.0
0

92
.0

0
86

.6
0

89
.0

0
86

.4
0

92
.0

0
92

.0
0

93
.0

0
88

.0
0

89
.0

0
T

ar
ge

t
20

20
20

20
20

20
20

20
20

20
20

20
C

S
C

 L
P

I 3
.3

A
ve

ra
ge

 S
pe

ed
 o

f A
ns

w
er

 (
se

co
nd

s)
M

S

C
S

C
 L

P
I 3

.2
%

 o
f C

al
ls

 A
ns

w
er

ed
M

S

C
S

C
 L

P
I 3

.1
R

es
ol

ut
io

n 
at

 F
irs

t P
oi

nt
 o

f C
on

ta
ct

 a
ll 

se
rv

ic
es

 (
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

)
M

S

C
S

C
M

on
th

ly
 C

al
l V

ol
um

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
S

w
itc

hb
oa

rd
M

S

C
S

C
M

on
th

ly
 C

al
l V

ol
um

es
 C

us
to

m
er

 C
on

ta
ct

 
C

en
tr

e
M

S

LP
 

H
ou

si
ng

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 D
F

G
 b

ud
ge

t s
pe

nt
  

Q
C

N
I1

57
T

he
 p

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 m
aj

or
 p

la
nn

in
g 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 w
ith

in
 1

3 
w

ee
ks

M
C

nu
m

er
at

or

de
no

m
in

at
or

N
I1

57
T

he
 p

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 m
in

or
 p

la
nn

in
g 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 w
ith

in
 8

 
w

ee
ks

M
C

nu
m

er
at

or

de
no

m
in

at
or

N
I1

57
T

he
 p

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 o
th

er
 p

la
nn

in
g 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 w
ith

in
 8

 
w

ee
ks

M
C

nu
m

er
at

or

de
no

m
in

at
or

N
I 1

55
N

um
be

r 
of

 a
ffo

rd
ab

le
 h

om
es

 
de

liv
er

ed
Q

C

N
I 1

56
 

N
um

be
r 

of
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
oc

up
yi

ng
 

te
m

po
ra

ry
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n
Q

S

LP
 

H
ou

si
ng

 
A

ve
ra

ge
 ti

m
e 

(w
ee

ks
) 

fr
om

 r
ef

er
ra

l 
to

 c
om

pl
et

io
n 

fo
r 

ca
te

go
ry

  1
 D

F
G

s 
Q

S

LP
 

H
ou

si
ng

 
A

ve
ra

ge
 ti

m
e 

(w
ee

ks
) 

fr
om

 r
ef

er
ra

l 
to

 c
om

pl
et

io
n 

fo
r 

ca
te

go
ry

  2
 D

F
G

s
Q

S

LP
 

H
ou

si
ng

 
A

ve
ra

ge
 ti

m
e 

(w
ee

ks
) 

fr
om

 r
ef

er
ra

l 
to

 c
om

pl
et

io
n 

fo
r 

ca
te

go
ry

  3
 D

F
G

s
Q

S

LP
 

H
ou

si
ng

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 D
F

G
 b

ud
ge

t 
al

lo
ca

te
d 

to
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

sc
he

m
es

Q
C

Page 97



A
ct

ua
l

21
16

16
29

20
24

13
15

11
.0

0
23

.0
0

23
.0

0
27

.0
0

C
h

ie
f 

E
xe

cu
ti

ve
's

 
T

ar
ge

t
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a
n/

a

A
ct

ua
l

25
22

20
12

12
5

12
11

10
34

12
25

T
ar

ge
t

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

A
ct

ua
l

4
2

4
5

5
1

7
6

7
6

11
12

T
ar

ge
t

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

25
0

27
5

30
0

32
5

35
0

37
5

A
ct

ua
l

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

29
8

37
3

20
4

12
2

26
8

48
5

F
in

an
ci

al
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

T
ar

ge
t

15
.0

0
15

.0
0

15
.0

0
15

.0
0

15
.0

0
15

.0
0

15
.0

0
15

.0
0

15
.0

0
15

.0
0

15
.0

0
15

.0
0

A
ct

ua
l

11
.1

7
10

.2
9

14
.5

8
9.

28
10

.6
8

12
.7

3
6.

38
6.

74
10

.9
8

11
.8

6
3.

79
8.

70

12
,8

36
13

,4
75

18
,7

46
10

,6
90

8,
70

6
16

,3
42

12
,9

19
9,

65
6

9,
41

1
12

,0
47

85
91

.0
0

85
50

.0
0

1,
14

9
1,

30
9

1,
28

6
1,

15
2

81
5

1,
28

4
2,

02
5

1,
43

2
85

7
10

16
22

64
98

3

T
ar

ge
t

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

A
ct

ua
l

55
6,

37
9

54
9,

84
4

56
7,

50
3

60
9,

75
5

T
ar

ge
t

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

A
ct

ua
l

69
,4

94
64

,0
54

10
3,

50
7

75
,7

72

T
ar

ge
t

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

A
ct

ua
l

13
8

9
8

T
ar

ge
t

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

A
ct

ua
l

0.
15

0
0.

36
1.

47
1

T
ar

ge
t

87
9

75
9

A
ct

ua
l

39
6

73
0

T
ar

ge
t

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

90
.0

0
90

.0
0

A
ct

ua
l

80
.8

8
83

.7
1

84
.7

7
85

.8
0

80
.9

7
83

.8
3

83
.6

9
84

.5
9

78
.4

7
81

.7
1

80
.7

9
94

.5
0

T
ar

ge
t

98
.0

0
98

.0
0

98
.0

0
98

.0
0

98
.0

0
98

.0
0

98
.0

0
98

.0
0

98
.0

0
98

.0
0

98
.0

0
98

.0
0

A
ct

ua
l

99
.3

4
98

.3
9

97
.9

7
98

.4
2

98
.4

2
98

.0
2

98
.1

7
98

.4
9

96
.3

2
95

.4
7

98
.5

1
99

.7
7

L
eg

al
, E

q
u

al
iti

es
 a

n
d

 D
em

o
cr

at
ic

 
S

er
vi

ce
s

T
ar

ge
t

n/
a

le
ve

l 2
le

ve
l 2

le
ve

l 2

A
ct

ua
l

n/
a

le
ve

l 2
le

ve
l 2

le
ve

l 2

H
u

m
an

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 &
 

O
rg

an
is

at
io

n
al

 D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

T
ar

ge
t

0.
71

0.
71

0.
71

0.
71

0.
71

0.
71

0.
71

0.
71

0.
71

0.
79

0.
79

0.
79

A
ct

ua
l

0.
85

0.
93

1.
15

1.
16

0.
84

0.
51

0.
50

0.
70

0.
53

0.
53

0.
61

0.
71

LP
I  

(f
or

m
er

ly
 

B
V

12
)

T
he

 a
ve

ra
ge

 n
um

be
r 

of
 w

or
ki

ng
 d

ay
s 

lo
st

 d
ue

 to
 s

ic
kn

es
s.

M
C

LD
 L

P
I 1

N
ew

 E
qu

al
ity

 fr
am

ew
or

k 
(r

ep
la

ce
s 

eq
ua

lit
y 

st
an

da
rd

 a
bo

ve
 in

 2
00

9/
10

)
Q

C

F
P

00
1

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 in

vo
ic

es
 p

ai
d 

w
ith

in
 3

0 
da

ys
 o

f r
ec

ei
pt

M
C

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 in

vo
ic

es
 p

ai
d 

w
ith

in
 1

0 
da

ys
 o

f r
ec

ei
pt

M
C

N
I 1

79
 

V
F

M
 -

 to
ta

l n
et

 v
al

ue
 o

f o
n-

go
in

g 
ca

sh
 r

el
ea

si
ng

 V
F

M
 g

ai
ns

 s
in

ce
 th

e 
st

ar
t o

f 2
00

8-
09

 (
£'

00
0)

Q
C

M
ax

im
um

 %
 o

f t
he

 o
ut

st
an

di
ng

 H
B

 
ov

er
pa

ym
en

ts
 d

eb
t w

rit
te

n 
of

f d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

 q
ua

rt
er

Q
C

%
 o

f H
B

 o
ve

rp
ay

m
en

ts
 r

ec
ov

er
ed

 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

qu
ar

te
r 

of
 th

e 
ou

ts
ta

nd
in

g 
de

bt
.

Q
C

T
ot

al
 v

al
ue

 o
f H

B
 o

ve
rp

ay
m

en
ts

 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
qu

ar
te

r 
(£

)
Q

C

T
ot

al
 v

al
ue

 o
f H

B
 o

ve
rp

ay
m

en
ts

 
ou

ts
ta

nd
in

g 
at

 th
e 

st
ar

t o
f t

he
 q

ua
rt

er
 

(£
)

Q
C

N
I 1

81
T

im
e 

ta
ke

n 
to

 p
ro

ce
ss

 H
B

/C
T

 b
en

ef
it 

ne
w

 c
la

im
s 

or
 c

ha
ng

e 
ev

en
ts

M
C

nu
m

er
at

or

de
no

m
in

at
or

LP
I 

C
C

P
P

05
 

(D
M

)
C

om
m

un
ity

 tr
an

sp
or

t i
nc

om
e 

(£
)

M
C

LP
I 

C
C

P
P

03
 

(S
S

)

N
um

be
r 

of
 c

om
pl

im
en

ts
 r

ec
ei

ve
d 

(C
ou

nc
il 

w
id

e)
 

M
C

LP
I 

C
C

P
P

01
 

(S
S

)

N
um

be
r 

of
 c

om
pl

ai
nt

s 
re

ce
iv

ed
 

(C
ou

nc
il 

w
id

e)
 M

on
th

ly
.  

S
ou

rc
e 

 
ne

w
 c

om
pl

ai
nt

s 
sy

st
em

. 
M

C

C
S

C
 L

P
I 3

.3
A

ve
ra

ge
 S

pe
ed

 o
f A

ns
w

er
 (

se
co

nd
s)

M
S

Page 98


	Agenda
	3 To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 7th April 2010
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Overview Board held on 30th March 2010
	5 Minutes of the meeting of the Local Development Framework Working Group held on 15th April 2010 (to follow)
	6 Minutes of the meeting of the Performance Management Board held on 19th April 2010 (to follow)
	7 Minutes of the meeting of the Bromsgrove Local Strategic Partnership held on 23rd March 2010
	8 Minutes of the meeting of the Shared Services Board held on 20th April 2010 (to follow)
	9 To receive verbal updates from the Leader and/or other Cabinet Members on any recent meetings attended in an ex-officio capacity
	10 Worcestershire Enhanced Two Tier - Appointment to Joint Committee and Delegation of Regulatory Services Functions
	11 Changes to Governance Arrangements
	12 Economic Development Strategy
	13 Hot Food Takeaways - Supplementary Planning Document
	14 Improvement Plan Exception Report (March 2010)
	15 Performance Monitoring  Report (March 2010)
	Appendices For Agenda Item 15 - Performance Monitoring Report (March 2010)
	Performance Appendix 2 to  Cabinet
	Performance Appendix 3 to  Cabinet


